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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 
 

BARRICK GOLD CORPORATION,
 
   Petitioner, 
 
vs. 
 
THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 
COURT OF THE STATE OF 
NEVADA, IN AND FOR THE 
COUNTY OF CLARK; AND THE 
HONORABLE ELIZABETH 
GONZALEZ, DISTRICT JUDGE, 
DEPT. XI, 
 
   Respondent, 
 
and 
 
BULLION MONARCH 
MINING, INC., 
 
  Real Party in Interest. 

Case No.
 
 
 
 
 
APPENDIX IN SUPPORT OF 
BARRICK GOLD CORPORATION'S 
PETITION FOR WRIT OF 
PROHIBITION  
 
 
 
 
VOLUME V OF VIII 

 
 
DATED this 24th day of August, 2021. 

 
     PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
 
 
     By:   /s/ Jordan T. Smith     
      James J. Pisanelli, Esq., #4027 

 Todd L. Bice, Esq., #4534 
 Debra L. Spinelli, Esq., #9695 
 Jordan T. Smith, Esq., #12097 
 400 South 7th Street, Suite 300  
 Las Vegas, Nevada   89101 
 
Attorneys for Petitioner Barrick Gold Corporation 
 
 
 
 

Electronically Filed
Aug 25 2021 08:40 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Docket 83415   Document 2021-24737
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CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX 

  

DOCUMENT DATE VOL. PAGE 

Complaint filed in Bullion Monarch 
Mining, Inc. v. Barrick Goldstrike 
Mines, Inc., et al., Case No. A-18-785913-B, 
FILED UNDER SEAL 

12/12/2018 I PA 0001-0041 

Minute Order on All Pending Motions 04/22/2019 I PA 0042-0044 

Barrick Gold Corporation's Motion to 
Dismiss 

10/11/2019 I PA 0045-0128 

Bullion Monarch Mining, Inc. Motion for 
Leave to File Amended Complaint 

FILED UNDER SEAL 

11/02/2019 I PA 0129-0185 

Bullion Monarch Mining, Inc.'s Opposition 
to Motion to Dismiss 
FILED UNDER SEAL 

11/12/2019 I, II PA 0186-0329 

Proof of Service on Defendant Barrick Gold 
Corporation 

11/25/2019 II PA 0330-0335 

Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Leave 
to File Amended Complaint 

05/21/2020 II PA 0336-0338 

Order Regarding Motion for Clarification or, 
Alternatively, for Leave to File Amended 
Complaint 

07/14/2020 II PA 0339-0343 

Second Amended Complaint 

FILED UNDER SEAL 

07/14/2020 II PA 0344-0390 

Barrick Gold Corporation's Motion to 
Dismiss Plaintiff's Second Amended 
Complaint 

07/28/2020 II PA 0391-0414 

Appendix to Barrick Gold Corporation's 
Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Second 
Amended Complaint 
 

07/28/2020 III PA 0415-0572 
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DOCUMENT DATE VOL. PAGE

Appendix to Barrick Nevada Holding LLC's 
Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Second 
Amended Complaint 
EXHIBIT D FILED UNDER SEAL 

08/06/2020 III, IV, 
V 

PA 0573-1042 

Combined Opposition to Barrick Gold 
Corporation's and Barrick Nevada 
Holding, LLC's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's 
Second Amended Complaint 

08/21/2020 V, VI PA 1043-1148 

Reply in Support of Barrick Gold 
Corporation's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's 
Second Amended Complaint 

09/08/2020 VI PA 1149-1173 

Transcript of Proceedings 09/22/2020 VI PA 1174-1249 

Notice of Entry of Order Regarding Motions 
to Dismiss and Motion for a More Definite 
Statement 

12/09/2020 VI PA 1250-1257 

Barrick Gold Corporation's Petition for Writ 
of Prohibition 

01/25/2021 VI PA 1258-1295 

Third Amended Complaint 

FILED UNDER SEAL 

02/08/2021 VI PA 1296-1346 

Motion to Dismiss Petition or Notice of 
Intent to Oppose Petition as Moot 

02/10/2021 VII PA 1347-1406 

Opposition to Motion to Dismiss Petition 
and Countermotion for a Stay Pending 
Decision on Writ Petition 

02/17/2021 VII PA 1407-1427 

Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Third 
Amended Complaint 

02/22/2021 VII PA 1428-1536 

Opposition to Barrick Gold Corporation's 
Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Third 
Amended Complaint 

03/10/2021 VII PA 1537-1544 

Reply in Support of Barrick Gold 
Corporation's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's 
Third Amended Complaint 

03/22/2021 VII PA 1545-1551 

Minute Order on Barrick Gold Corporation's 
Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Third 
Amended Complaint 

03/29/2021 VII PA 1552-1553 
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Notice of Entry of Order Denying 
Barrick Gold Corporation's Motion to 
Dismiss Plaintiff's Third Amended 
Complaint 

04/21/2021 VII PA 1554-1559 

Motion to Supplement Petition and 
Appendix Thereto 

05/28/2021 VIII PA 1560-1715 

Order Granting Motion to Dismiss Petition 07/15/2021 VIII PA 1716-1718 

 

 

ALPHABETICAL INDEX 

  

DOCUMENT DATE VOL. PAGE 

Appendix to Barrick Gold Corporation's 
Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Second 
Amended Complaint 

07/28/2020 III PA 0415-0572 

Appendix to Barrick Nevada Holding LLC's 
Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Second 
Amended Complaint 
EXHIBIT D FILED UNDER SEAL 

08/06/2020 III, IV, 
V 

PA 0573-1042 

Barrick Gold Corporation's Motion to 
Dismiss 

10/11/2019 I PA 0045-0128 

Barrick Gold Corporation's Motion to 
Dismiss Plaintiff's Second Amended 
Complaint 

07/28/2020 II PA 0391-0414 

Barrick Gold Corporation's Petition for Writ 
of Prohibition 

01/25/2021 VI PA 1258-1295 

Bullion Monarch Mining, Inc. Motion for 
Leave to File Amended Complaint 
FILED UNDER SEAL 

11/02/2019 I PA 0129-0185 

Bullion Monarch Mining, Inc.'s Opposition 
to Motion to Dismiss 
FILED UNDER SEAL 

11/12/2019 I, II PA 0186-0329 
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DOCUMENT DATE VOL. PAGE

Combined Opposition to Barrick Gold 
Corporation's and Barrick Nevada 
Holding, LLC's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's 
Second Amended Complaint 

08/21/2020 V, VI PA 1043-1148 

Complaint filed in Bullion Monarch 
Mining, Inc. v. Barrick Goldstrike 
Mines, Inc., et al., Case No. A-18-785913-B, 
FILED UNDER SEAL 

12/12/2018 I PA 0001-0041 

Minute Order on All Pending Motions 04/22/2019 I PA 0042-0044 

Minute Order on Barrick Gold Corporation's 
Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Third 
Amended Complaint 

03/29/2021 VII PA 1552-1553 

Motion to Dismiss Petition or Notice of 
Intent to Oppose Petition as Moot 

02/10/2021 VII PA 1347-1406 

Motion to Supplement Petition and 
Appendix Thereto 

05/28/2021 VIII PA 1560-1715 

Notice of Entry of Order Denying 
Barrick Gold Corporation's Motion to 
Dismiss Plaintiff's Third Amended 
Complaint 

04/21/2021 VII PA 1554-1559 

Notice of Entry of Order Regarding Motions 
to Dismiss and Motion for a More Definite 
Statement 

12/09/2020 VI PA 1250-1259 

Opposition to Barrick Gold Corporation's 
Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Third 
Amended Complaint 

03/10/2021 VII PA 1537-1544 

Order Granting Motion to Dismiss Petition 07/15/2021 VIII PA 1716-1718 

Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Leave 
to File Amended Complaint 

05/21/2020 II PA 0336-0338 

Order Regarding Motion for Clarification or, 
Alternatively, for Leave to File Amended 
Complaint 

07/14/2020 II PA 0339-0343 

Proof of Service on Defendant Barrick Gold 
Corporation 

11/25/2019 II PA 0330-0335 
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Reply in Support of Barrick Gold 
Corporation's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's 
Second Amended Complaint 

09/08/2020 VI PA 1149-1173 

Reply in Support of Barrick Gold 
Corporation's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's 
Third Amended Complaint 

03/22/2021 VII PA 1545-1551 

Second Amended Complaint 

FILED UNDER SEAL 

07/14/2020 II PA 0344-0390 

Third Amended Complaint 

FILED UNDER SEAL 

02/08/2021 VI PA 1296-1346 

Transcript of Proceedings 09/22/2020 VI PA 1174-1249 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of Pisanelli Bice PLLC, and 

that on this 24th day of August, 2021, I electronically filed and served via 

United States Mail, postage prepaid, a true and correct copy of the above and 

foregoing APPENDIX TO BARRICK GOLD CORPORATION'S PETITION 

FOR WRIT OF PROHIBITION properly addressed to the following: 

 

 
Clayton P. Brust, Esq. 
ROBISON, SHARP, SULLIVAN & BRUST, P.C. 
71 Washington Street  
Reno, NV 89503 
 
Daniel F. Polsenberg, Esq. 
Joel D. Henriod, Esq. 
Abraham G. Smith, Esq. 
LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP 
3993 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, NV  89169 
 
The Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez  
Eighth Judicial District court, Dept. XI 
Regional Justice Center 
200 Lewis Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 
 

 
 
  /s/ Kimberly Peets     

     An employee of PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
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OPPM 
CLAYTON P. BRUST (SBN 5234) 
KENT ROBISON (SBN 1167) 
ROBISON, SIMONS, SHARP & BRUST, P.C. 
71 Washington Street 
Reno, Nevada 89503 
(775) 329-3151 
(775) 329-7941 (Fax) 
CBrust@RSSBLaw.com 
 
DANIEL F. POLSENBERG (SBN 2376) 
J CHRISTOPHER JORGENSEN (SBN 5382) 
JOEL D. HENRIOD (SBN 8492) 
ABRAHAM G. SMITH (SBN 13,250) 
LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP 
3993 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169-5996 
(702) 949-8200 
(702) 949-8398 (Fax) 
DPolsenberg@LRRC.com 
CJorgensen@LRRC.com  
JHenriod@LRRC.com  
ASmith@LRRC.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
BULLION MONARCH MINING, 
INC., 

 
Plaintiff, 

 
vs. 

 
BARRICK GOLDSTRIKE MINES, 
INC.; BARRICK GOLD 
EXPLORATION INC.; BARRICK 
GOLD CORPORATION; NEVADA 
GOLD MINES, LLC; BARRICK 
NEVADA HOLDING LLC; and DOES 
1 through 20, 

 
Defendants. 
 

Case No. A-18-785913-B 
 
Dep’t No. 11 

 
COMBINED OPPOSITION TO 

BARRICK GOLD CORPORATION’S 
AND BARRICK NEVADA HOLDING 

LLC’S MOTION TO DISMISS 
PLAINTIFF’S SECOND  

AMENDED COMPLAINT 
 

 
Hearing Date: August 31, 2020 
Hearing Time: 9:00 a.m. 

 
Defendant Barrick Gold Corporation purposely availed itself of Nevada’s 

legal system when it entered into a joint-venture agreement to convey and ac-

quire mineral properties in Nevada, and some of Bullion’s claims arise from the 

very act of entering that agreement.  At least with respect to this agreement, 

Barrick Gold is the principal and alter ego of its subsidiary, Barrick Goldstrike, 

Case Number: A-18-785913-B

Electronically Filed
8/21/2020 12:01 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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who as a result of Barrick Gold’s maneuvering has divested all of its mineral 

properties in Nevada.  Barrick Gold is subject to jurisdiction here. 

For similar reasons, Barrick Nevada Holding LLC, whose very creation 

and purpose—to facilitate a corporate restructuring that eliminates Barrick 

Goldstrike’s assets in the area of interest—is a centerpiece of this litigation, not 

a reason to avoid personal jurisdiction. 

The statute of limitations is no refuge for Barrick Gold, either.  Despite 

some similarities, this is not the same complaint as the one filed in 2009 relat-

ing solely to property then owned by Barrick Goldstrike.  As Bullion has been 

learning, Barrick Gold began setting up other companies to mine in the area of 

interest where Bullion has a royalty, culminating in the 2019 joint-venture 

agreement in which Barrick Goldstrike’s properties were swallowed up by a 

new entity in which a different Barrick entity holds a 61.5% share.  Barrick 

Gold’s nondisclosure of its other Nevada holdings also constitutes fraudulent 

concealement or an estoppel that justifies equitable tolling of the statute of limi-

tations.1 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

The 1979 Agreement and Bullion’s Royalty 

In 1979, Bullion gave several valuable mineral rights to a venture oper-

ated by Universal Gas (Montana), Inc.  (2d Am. Compl., ¶ 15 & Ex. 1, 1979 

Agreement, ¶ 2(A).)  Universal got the right to develop Bullion’s claims, as well 

as any others it acquired in a surrounding eight-mile-by-eight-mile area of in-

                                         
1 Barrick Gold’s and Barrick Nevada Holding’s motions overlap to a degree that 
made this combined opposition seem economical.  Bullion also incorporates here 
its concurrently filed opposition to Barrick Goldstrike, Barrick Exploration, and 
Nevada Gold Mines’ motions to dismiss (and joinder), as well as the opposition 
to Barrick Gold’s first motion to dismiss, filed November 12, 2019. 

PA 1044
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terest.  (2d Am. Compl., ¶ 15 & Ex. 1, 1979 Agreement, ¶ 11.)  That area of in-

terest covers much of what is known as the Carlin Trend, one of the richest gold 

and silver deposits in the world.  (2d Am. Compl., ¶¶ 13, 17.)  Bullion Monarch 

Mining, Inc. v. Barrick Goldstrike Mines, Inc. (Bullion II), 131 Nev. 99, 101, 345 

P.3d 1040, 1041 (2015). 

For the venture to be profitable, Bullion agreed to stay out of the area of 

interest for 99 years, through 2078.  (2d Am. Compl., ¶¶ 14, 18 & Ex. 1, 1979 

Agreement, ¶ 11.)  In exchange, Bullion was to receive a royalty on production 

both from its original claims and from those acquired during that 99-year period 

in the area of interest.  (2d Am. Compl., ¶¶ 15–16 & Ex. 1, 1979 Agreement, 

¶¶ 4, 11.) 

Barrick’s Predecessor Assumes the Royalty 

Eventually, Barrick Goldstrike’s predecessor agreed to “assume and be-

come liable for . . . all obligations” under the 1979 Agreement (1990 Option 

Agreement § 7.3(B)(3)(a)), including the obligation to pay Bullion royalties.  (2d 

Am. Compl., ¶ 23–24.)  Barrick Goldstrike’s predecessor, however, entered into 

a joint venture with Newmont Gold Co., which gave Newmont the majority 

stake and the obligation to pay Bullion’s royalties—or so Bullion thought.  (1991 

Venture Agreement § 2.1(f)(i).) 

Bullion Learns that Goldstrike Has  
Been Breaching the 1979 Agreement 

When Bullion discovered that it was not receiving royalty payments on 

acquisitions in the area of interest, Bullion sued Newmont USA Limited, who 

had assured Bullion that it was responsible for Bullion’s royalty payments.  (See 

227 Doc. 1, Exhibit 1.)  But on June 2, 2009, during federal litigation against 

Newmont, Newmont disclosed a hitherto-secret agreement with Goldstrike 

making Barrick Goldstrike responsible for royalty payments under the 1979 

Agreement.  (See 227 Doc. 39 (dated May 22, 2009); Brust Aff. Ex. 10- First 

PA 1045
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Supp. Resp. to Req. for Prod. [Set 2], dated June 2, 2009; see also Brust Aff. Ex. 

4 - Shane Biornstad e-mail from Apr. 28, 2009, Exhibit 4.) 

Bullion accordingly amended its complaint to add Barrick Goldstrike and 

Barrick Gold.  (Ex. A to Barrick Gold Mot.)  In a motion to dismiss, Barrick 

Gold represented that it owns no property in Nevada, that Barrick Goldstrike 

“controls the company’s activities in Nevada,” and that Barrick Goldstrike “has 

substantial assets in Nevada, including the Goldstrike Mine.”  (Ex. C to Barrick 

Gold Mot., ¶¶ 9, 20, 25.)  Without waiving any argument, Bullion voluntarily 

dismissed Barrick Gold without prejudice.  (Ex. D. to Barrick Gold Mot.) 

Although neither Barrick Gold nor Barrick Goldstrike disclosed this in 

the federal litigation, Barrick Gold had directed subsidiaries other than Barrick 

Goldstrike to acquire valuable mineral interests in the area of interest.  (2d Am. 

Compl., ¶ 30.)  Barrick Exploration has not disputed that it was one of the sub-

sidiaries with properties in the area of interest.  And now, Barrick Gold has or-

chestrated the creation of yet more entities, this time to absorb all of Barrick’s 

properties (including from Barrick Goldstrike), leaving Barrick Goldstrike as 

just one of unspecified “various U.S. subsidiaries of Barrick Gold Corporation 

own[ing] certain percentages of Barrick Holding” (Barrick Nevada Holding App. 

465, Decl. of Paul D. Judd, ¶ 2 (emphasis added).) 

Barrick Gold’s motion, like those of its subsidiaries and its joint-venture 

affiliate, centers on irrelevant fact questions about how easily Bullion should 

have been able to reverse-engineer from public filings a map of all of the mining 

claims in an eight-mile-by-eight-mile area of interest and trace them back to 

Barrick or another company.  These tut-tuts distract from the legal issues: Bul-

lion has stated valid claims against Barrick Gold, and this Court has jurisdic-

tion over those claims. 
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ARGUMENT 

I. 
 

THE ORDER GRANTING THE AMENDMENT RECOGNIZES  
THAT BULLION’S CLAIMS ARE VIABLE 

Unlike an original complaint, an amended complaint filed with the leave 

of the Court necessarily entails a determination that the allegations in the new 

complaint are not futile.  NRCP 15(a); Halcrow, Inc. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. 

Court, 129 Nev. 394, 398, 302 P.3d 1148, 1152 (2013) (“[L]eave to amend should 

not be granted if the proposed amendment would be futile.” (citing Allum v. Val-

ley Bank of Nev., 109 Nev. 280, 287, 849 P.2d 297, 302 (1993))). 

Bullion incorporates the arguments that it made in its prior opposition to 

dismissal and its affirmative motions to amend that this Court accepted in 

granting leave under Rule 15(a). 

II. 
 

THIS COURT HAS PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER  
BARRICK GOLD AND BARRICK NEVADA HOLDING LLC 

A. Barrick Gold Has Its Own Minimum Contacts 

1. Specific Jurisdiction 

Specific jurisdiction exists “where the cause of action arises from the de-

fendant’s contacts with the forum.”  Trump v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 109 

Nev. 687, 699, 857 P.2d 740, 748 (1993).  A foreign defendant submits to the fo-

rum’s judicial power “through contact with and activity directed at a sover-

eign . . . in a suit arising out of or related to the defendant's contacts with the 

forum.”  J. McIntyre Mach., Ltd. v. Nicastro, 564 U.S. 873, 881 (2011). 

2. Bullion Targeted Nevada with the Creation of a  
Nevada Joint Venture and the Transfer of Nevada 
Property that Is the Subject of this Suit 

Here, both Bullion’s complaint and the available evidence make clear that 
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Barrick Gold has acted in or toward Nevada.  The complaint alleges that Bar-

rick Nevada Holding LLC or another Barrick entity, including defendants”—

which would include Barrick Gold—“is the majority owner and operator of Ne-

vada Gold.”  (2d Am. Compl. ¶ 32 (emphasis added).)  Barrick’s splashy an-

nouncement suggests that Barrick Gold itself is directly involved in the Nevada 

joint venture in the area of interest that is the subject of this suit: “Barrick Gold 

Corporation (NYSE:GOLD) (TSX:ABX) and Newmont Goldcorp Corporation 

(NYSE:NEM) (TSX:NGT) have successfully concluded the transaction establish-

ing Nevada Gold Mines LLC.”  (Ex. 2, Press Release, Nevada Gold Mines 

Launched: Best Assets, Best People Will Deliver Best Value, NEVADA GOLD 

MINES, July 1, 2019, available at 

https://s24.q4cdn.com/382246808/files/doc_downloads/operations_pro-

jects/north_america/documents/Nevada-Gold-Mines-Launched-1-July-2019.pdf 

(last accessed Aug. 19, 2020).) 

The joint-venture implementation agreement between Barrick Gold and 

Newmont Goldcorp confirms this: 

. . . Barrick shall cause the Barrick Parties to sell, assign and 
transfer to the JV Company, and the Parties shall cause the 
JV Company to purchase from the Barrick Parties, free and 
clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted Encum-
brances, all of the Barrick Parties’ right, title and interest in, 
to or under any assets, properties or rights located in the 
State of Nevada and relating primarily to the Barrick Proper-
ties, in each case, in which the Barrick Parties have any right, 
title or interest . . . . 

(Barrick Nevada Holding App. 99, Implementation Agreement § 3.1(a); see also 

id. at 101, § 3.3(a) (Newmont’s contribution of all Nevada properties).)  The 

agreement goes on to specify Barrick Gold’s obligation to ensure the transfer to 

the joint venture of various rights, including ranches and power assets, specifi-

cally located in Nevada. (Barrick Nevada Holding App. 99–100, Implementation 

Agreement § 3.1(a)(i)–(xiv).)  Barrick Gold and Newmont also entered into an 

operating agreement in which Barrick Gold “irrevocably attorns and submits to 
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the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Nevada respecting all mat-

ters relating to this Agreement and the rights and obligations of the Parties 

hereunder.”  (Barrick Nevada Holding App. 217, Operating Agreement, § 13.1; 

Barrick Nevada Holding App. 354, Amended Operating Agreement, § 14.1.) 

3. Barrick’s Transactions, Reorganizations, and Convey-
ances Are Key to the Dispute, Not Mere Background 

This is unlike a dispute, such as the plumbing defects in Viega GmbH v. 

Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, where the corporate structure and creation of sub-

sidiaries predated and was tangential to the issues in the litigation.  130 Nev. 

368, 372–73, 328 P.3d 1152, 1155 (2014).  The German parent was not involved 

in the actual construction-defect dispute, and the formation of subsidiary com-

panies was not part of the suit. 

Here, in contrast, Barrick Gold’s creation of a new entity to absorb Bar-

rick Goldstrike’s and other Barrick subsidaries’ mineral-producing properties is 

central to Bullion’s claims.  Bullion’s complaint “arises” precisely from these Ne-

vada-directed transactions. 

4. Barrick Created these Contacts before the  
Filing of the Operative Complaint 

Conscious that it has had a heavy hand in Nevada since the formation of 

Nevada Gold Mines, Barrick Gold tries to shift the conversation to December 

2018, before Bullion filed its original complaint.  Barrick Gold relies on Dana 

Stringer’s declaration, which is conspicuously precise: “Prior to December 2018, 

Barrick Gold had never directly participated in a joint venture or partnership 

owning properties in Nevada.”  (Barrick Gold App. 151, Ex. K, ¶ 14 (emphasis 

added).)  “As of December 2018, Barrick Gold had no presence in Nevada . . . .”  

(Barrick Gold App. 151, Ex. K, ¶ 21 (emphasis added).)  

The assumption is that personal jurisdiction is somehow like federal (stat-

utory) subject-matter jurisdiction, with the analysis frozen in time at the mo-

ment the complaint is filed.  That is far from a universal view.  See generally 
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Todd David Peterson, The Timing of Minimum Contacts, 79 GEO. WASH. L. REV. 

101, 133 (2010) (surveying cases); compare Steel v. United States, 813 F.2d 

1545, 1549 (9th Cir. 1987) (contacts counted as of the time of events giving rise 

to the suit), with Logan Productions, Inc. v. Optibase, Inc., 103 F.3d 49, 53 (7th 

Cir. 1996) (counting contacts long after the transaction or injury), and Mellon 

Bank (E.) PSFS, Nat’l Ass’n v. Farino, 960 F.2d 1217, 1224 (3d Cir. 1992) (“we 

must take into account the defendants’ contacts with the Commonwealth be-

fore, during, and after the dates the loans were made and the guaranties were 

executed”). 

Regardless, here the operative complaint was filed this year, and includes 

supplemental allegations regarding the 2019 joint venture agreement, in which 

Barrick Gold played a leading role, as well as aspects of Barrick’s operations—

such as its use of subsidiaries other than Goldstrike to collect and mine proper-

ties in the area of interest—that were previously concealed from Bullion.  No 

matter how detailed Barrick Gold’s declaration from a decade ago (Barrick Gold 

Mot. 4:6–7), it is manifestly untrue that “[n]othing has changed that would war-

rant Barrick Gold being subject to jurisdiction in Nevada.”  (Barrick Gold Mot 

7:1–2 (emphasis added).)  Bullion’s prior, voluntary dismissal is irrelevant.  And 

Bullion is entitled to rely on the contacts connected with the operative com-

plaint to establish Barrick Gold’s jurisdiction, not simply the original complaint 

that has been superseded without an answer from Barrick Gold. 

B. Alternatively, Minimum Contacts Are Imputed to  
Barrick Gold under Agency and Alter Ego Theories 

Even if Barrick Gold lacks its own minimum contacts in Nevada, its use 

of Nevada subsidiaries as its agent and its broader abuse of the corporate form, 

which has blocked Bullion from receiving its bargained-for royalty, make it ap-

propriate to impute those subsidiaries’ contacts to Barrick Gold.  And because 

those contacts include the central point of the parties’ lawsuit, they support the 
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exercise of specific jurisdiction over Barrick Gold. 

1. If Specific Jurisdiction Exists for the Subsidiary,  
It Exists for the Principal or Alter Ego Parent 

Initially, Barrick Gold misreads Daimler AG v. Bauman, 571 U.S. 117, a 

general-jurisdiction case.  Daimler held that general jurisdiction is not appro-

priate in every state where a defendant’s contacts are “in some sense ‘continu-

ous and systematic,” but in the few states where the defendant’s affiliation is so 

continuous and systematic as to render it “at home.”  Id. at 138–39 (citing Good-

year Dunlop Tires Operations, S.A. v. Brown, 564 U.S. 915, 919 (2011)).  Accord-

ing to Barrick, “[e]ven if a court determines that one entity is the alter ego of 

the other, then the foreign entity’s activities in the forum jurisdiction must still 

meet the general jurisdiction requirements of being essentially ‘at home.’”  (Bar-

rick Gold Mot. 15:7–9 (citing Daimler, 571 at 136).)  But the plaintiff in Daimler 

never suggested an alter-ego theory, at all.  Daimler, 571 U.S. 117, 133–34.  

More important, the plaintiff never attempted to show specific jurisdiction.  Id.  

So the plaintiff had to meet the high bar of general jurisdiction.  Id. at 136.  And 

in the dicta that Barrick Gold cites, the Supreme Court ventured that even if 

the subsidiary’s contacts were attributed to the parent under an agency the-

ory—that is, respecting the corporate separation—that would just make the ju-

risdiction one of many where it had lots of contacts, but was not “at home.”  Id. 

at 136–37. 

For specific jurisdiction, the analysis is just the opposite.  See Viega 

GmbH v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 130 Nev. 368, 384, 328 P.3d 1152, 1162 

(2014) (Pickering, J., concurring) (noting the majority’s recognition that an 

agency theory of general jurisdiction is now “defunct”).  If the subsidiary would 

be subject to specific jurisdiction based on minimum contacts related to or aris-

ing out of the action, those specific-jurisdiction contacts also suffice as to the 

parent to whom they are imputed.  Viega GmbH v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 
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130 Nev. 368, 377, 328 P.3d 1152, 1158 (2014) (majority opinion) (citing Trump 

v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 109 Nev. 687, 694, 857 P.2d 740, 745 (1993)). 

2. Agency Theory 

Barrick Gold argues that it cannot be a principal of any Nevada defend-

ant because it is looking for some kind of extraordinary interference in the Ne-

vada subsidiaries’ internal affairs.  In fact, Barrick Gold is the principal of both 

Barrick Goldstrike and Barrick Exploration. 

“An agency relationship exists where a parent company has ‘the right to 

substantially control its subsidiary's activities.’”  Genx Processors Mauritius 

Ltd. v. Jackson, 2:14-CV-01938-APG-PAL, 2018 WL 5777485, at *6 (D. Nev. 

Nov. 2, 2018) (quoting Williams v. Yamaha Motor Co., 851 F.3d 1015, 1024–25 

(9th Cir. 2017)).  And as Bullion alleged, Barrick Exploration as Barrick 

Goldstrike’s sole shareholder had—and exercised—that right.  (Am. Compl. 

¶ 76; ER 1553, Ex. 3.) 

What’s more, Barrick Gold in the process of forming Nevada Gold Mines 

treated its Nevada subsidiaries as agents who were not left or trusted to man-

age their own affairs, even as to the drafting of deeds transferring property.  In-

deed, Barrick Gold promised Newmont that it had just such control in covenant-

ing to “to cause each of its Affiliates to duly and punctually perform and observe 

all of its respective obligations, commitments, undertakings, warranties, indem-

nities and covenants which may be necessary or advisable to consummate the 

transactions contemplated by this Agreement.”  (Barrick Nevada Holding App. 

116, Implementation Agreement § 5.16; accord Barrick Nevada Holding App. 

117, Implementation Agreement § 6.3 (Barrick’s representation that perfor-

mance of the agreement and all transaction documents, including conveyances 

from Barrick Gold Exploration and Barrick Goldstrike, are “duly authorized by 

all necessary corporate action on the part of each of the Barrick Parties”).) 

Barrick even went so far as to create the conveyancing instruments that 
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it would demand Barrick Goldstrike and any other subsidiary in Nevada to exe-

cute.  (Barrick Nevada Holding App. 141, Sched. 1.1(DD)(ii) to Implementation 

Agreement (Mining Deed); accord id. at 137 (ranch deed), 145 (water rights 

deed), 149 (fee property deed); (Ex. 1 to Nevada Gold Mines Mot., 

BGMI0000708–16 (executed mining deed).)  At least as to these transactions, 

which form part of the basis for Bullion’s suit, Barrick Gold is in an agency rela-

tionship. 

3. Alter Ego Theory2 

Barrick Gold and Barrick Nevada Holding lean heavily on the facts in 

Viega GmbH v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 130 Nev. 368, 328 P.3d 1152 

(2014) and one of the California cases that Viega cites, Sonora Diamond Corp. 

v. Superior Court, 99 Cal. Rptr. 2d 824 (Cal. Ct. App. 2000).3  Neither case, how-

ever, had much to say about the sort of alter-ego liability alleged in Bullion’s 

amended complaint.  Viega did not involve an alter-ego allegation at all.  And 

the Sonora court disposed of that claim rather cursorily because “at least one of 

the two essential elements of the alter ego doctrine [under California law] was 

not established; there was no evidence of any wrongdoing by either Diamond or 

Sonora Mining or any evidence of injustice flowing from the recognition of So-

nora Mining’s separate corporate identity.”  99 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 836–37. 

                                         
2 In Provincial Government of Marinduque v. Placer Dome, Inc., the Supreme 
Court noted that factual disputes occluded the question of whether Barrick was 
the alter ego of its Nevada subsidiaries, but the Supreme Court affirmed Bar-
rick’s dismissal on forum non conveniens grounds.  131 Nev. 296, 303–04, 350 
P.3d 392, 397–98 (2015). 
3 Barrick Gold is wrong on the agency analysis, too.  “An agency relationship ex-
ists where a parent company has ‘the right to substantially control its subsidi-
ary’s activities.’”  Genx Processors Mauritius Ltd. v. Jackson, 2:14-CV-01938-
APG-PAL, 2018 WL 5777485, at *6 (D. Nev. Nov. 2, 2018) (quoting Williams v. 
Yamaha Motor Co., 851 F.3d 1015, 1024–25 (9th Cir. 2017)).  And as Bullion al-
leged, Barrick Exploration as Barrick Goldstrike’s sole shareholder had—and 
exercised—that right.  (Am. Compl.¶ 76; ER 1553, Ex. 4.) 
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While the agency relationship maintains the fiction of corporate separate-

ness, “[i]f an alter-ego relationship exists, then the subsidiary’s corporate sepa-

rateness is disregarded” for all purposes.  NML Capital, Ltd. v. Republic of Ar-

gentina, 2:14-CV-1573-RFB-VCF, 2015 WL 1186548, at *11–14 (D. Nev. Mar. 

16, 2015) (discussing Viega, 328 P.3d at 1157, 1162).  Unity of interest for alter 

ego can be demonstrated by “joint ownership,” an agreement to submit to the 

parent company’s control, and “indistinguishable business ventures”—all signs 

that the subsidiary is “a mere instrumentality” of the parent.  Id.   

The element of fraud or injustice can take many forms.  The personal-ju-

risdiction cases usually focus on the unfairness of a company taking advantage 

of a state’s protections while escaping the state’s jurisdiction.  See, e.g., id.; 

Genx Processors Mauritius Ltd. v. Jackson, 2:14-CV-01938-APG-PAL, 2018 WL 

5777485, at *6 (D. Nev. Nov. 2, 2018).  In Paneno v. Centres for Academic Pro-

grammes Abroad Ltd., the court held that an exchange-student organization 

had engaged in “trickery” by “setting up two related corporate entities—one to 

recruit and enter into contracts with students [in California] and one to provide 

all necessary accommodations for them [in Europe]” to insulate both from a 

claim of negligence in California.  118 Cal. App. 4th 1447, 1456–57, 13 Cal. 

Rptr. 3d 759, 765–66 (2004). 

4. Barrick Abused the Corporate Form 

Barrick Gold’s actions are worse.  Barrick Gold not only seeks to reap the 

benefits of having an enormous and profitable venture in Nevada without being 

subject to jurisdiction there, but Barrick repeatedly manipulated its corporate 

design in ways that served to endanger Bullion’s royalty.   

a. BARRICK CANNOT DO INDIRECTLY  
WHAT IT CANNOT DO DIRECTLY 

Bullion’s agreement to withdraw from competing in the area of interest in 
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exchange for a royalty on production did not guarantee success, but it did en-

sure that a company who seeks to use Bullion’s mining properties to expand 

into the area of interest will have to pay for that privilege.  (2d Am. Compl., Ex. 

1, 1979 Agreement, ¶ 11.)  It was a risk worth taking only because of the strong 

incentive for an owner of Bullion’s properties to link them to the surrounding 

area of interest.  Bullion did not anticipate that a single corporate enterprise 

would “set[] up . . . related corporate entities”—one (Goldstrike) to bear the bur-

den of Bullion’s royalty and the others (including Exploration) to reap the bene-

fits of Bullion’s properties and noncompetition by scooping up land in the area 

of interest—to leave Bullion empty-handed.  Barrick Goldstrike could not have 

done so itself without subjecting itself to the royalty.  So Barrick Gold cannot 

escape liability simply because it has or can create another arm to acquire prop-

erty in the area of interest. 

Yet this is exactly what Barrick Gold and its Nevada subsidiaries have at-

tempted for years. 

b. SHARED MANAGEMENT 

While Goldstrike is nominally a subsidiary of Barrick Gold Exploration, 

Inc. and ultimately Barrick Gold Corporation, Barrick treated Goldstrike as its 

agent and alter ego.  Goldstrike and Exploration share the same slate of offic-

ers, directors, and management personnel.  (2d Am. Compl. ¶ 76.)  These offic-

ers, directors, and management personnel were all employees of Barrick Gold 

North America Inc. (BGNA) and had to manage “over a hundred entities,” in-

cluding Exploration and Goldstrike, for Barrick Gold.  (Id.)  Witnesses desig-

nated under Rule 30(b)(6) to represent Goldstrike in the federal lawsuit in fact 

knew little about Goldstrike, its corporate structure, or its organization within 

“over a hundred entities” of the Barrick Gold family.  (Id.)  Similarly, Rich Had-

dock, who had previously identified himself as Barrick Gold’s general counsel, 
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revealed his position with Goldstrike only when the question of Goldstrike’s citi-

zenship became an issue in federal court.  (Id.) 
c. SHARED ASSETS 

Barrick, Exploration, and Goldstrike shared not just the goal of enriching 

Barrick’s shareholders, but they shared assets, including offices, equipment, 

millsites, employees, vendors, consultants, counsel, trade secrets, know-how, ge-

ographic location, intellectual property, research results, and exploration re-

sults, and other intellectual and tangible property, all as if they were the same 

company.  (2d Am. Compl. ¶ 77.) 

This sharing appears to be even more extensive with the advent of Ne-

vada Gold Mines, including shared facilities (as dictated by the combined Bar-

rick Gold Corp. venture) and equipment.  (Ex. 2, Press Release, Nevada Gold 

Mines Launched: Best Assets, Best People Will Deliver Best Value, NEVADA GOLD 

MINES, July 1, 2019, available at 

https://s24.q4cdn.com/382246808/files/doc_downloads/operations_pro-

jects/north_america/documents/Nevada-Gold-Mines-Launched-1-July-2019.pdf 

(last accessed Aug. 19, 2020).)) 

d. LACK OF CORPORATE FORMALITIES 

In addition, Goldstrike failed to observe corporate formalities—including 

during the period Bullion filed its suit in federal court—by not holding the an-

nual meeting or other board meetings called for under Goldstrike’s governing 

documents and by not registering to do business in Utah, where Goldstrike as-

serts that it maintained its corporate headquarters.  (Am. Compl. ¶ 76.) 

e. NEW INJUSTICE AND UNDERCAPITALIZATION 

The latest incarnation of this ruse, the formation of Barrick Nevada Hold-

ing LLC, confirms the injustice.  Unlike Viega, where there was some benign 

logic to setting up an American subsidiary, here Barrick Gold already has a 

subsidiary operating in Nevada: Barrick Goldstrike.  If Barrick Goldstrike were 
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truly a separate company, acting at arm’s length, it would acquire the sur-

rounding area-of-interest properties just as it had back in 1999.  Now, however, 

while Barrick Goldstrike may still contractually on the hook for Bullion’s roy-

alty (and is for past production), Barrick Gold has placed all of the mineral-pro-

ducing assets—including Barrick Goldstrike’s—into the venture.  Barrick 

Goldstrike’s balance sheet now just contains one liability, Bullion’s royalty, 

without corresponding mineral assets, even though Barrick knows that Bullion 

is seeking a substantial judgment for past royalties against Barrick Goldstrike.  

In contrast, Nevada Gold Mines (and Barrick Nevada Holding LLC’s 61.5% 

stake) has a balance sheet of substantial mineral assets, but has not squarely 

committed to assume Barrick Goldstrike’s royalty obligation to Bullion.4 

5. This Court Should Alternatively  
Granted Rule 56(d) Relief 

Bullion’s allegations are sufficient both on their face and as corroborated 

by the known documents and other evidence that Bullion has acquired or seen 

in the previous federal litigation (hinting at the corporate web) and this one 

(eliminating Barrick Goldstrike’s mineral assets). 

Nevertheless, if this Court disagrees, Bullion seeks a fair opportunity to 

substantiate these claims.  Barrick’s past actions and present transactions point 

toward serious abuses of the corporate form that harm Bullion as a royalty 

holder, but Bullion’s experts confirm that further discovery is necessary.  (See 

Michael Deeba Decl, Ex. 4.) 

                                         
4 Somewhat helpful is Nevada Gold Mines’ admission that “[i]f an established 
obligation existed on the date the property was transferred to NGM, such as a 
royalty, then NGM assumed that obligation.”  (Nevada Gold Mines Mot. 8:21–
22.)  But unlike previous agreements, this one did not specifically refer to the 
1979 Agreement in an attached schedule, and does not specifically address Bul-
lion’s royalty under that agreement.  It remains unclear whether Nevada Gold 
Mines is assuming Goldstrike’s obligation to pay Bullion’s royalty under the 
1979 Agreement. 
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C. Barrick Confuses the Nerve Center Test with Alter Ego 

Barrick Gold tries to switch out the analysis of an alter-ego claim under 

Nevada law for the analysis of diversity jurisdiction in Hertz Corp. v. Friend, 

559 U.S. 77 (2010).  (Barrick Gold Mot. 18–20.)  But the tests are quite differ-

ent. 

For one thing, the test for diversity jurisdiction looks at the time Bullion 

filed its federal complaint in 2009, while Bullion’s new alter-ego complaint in 

Nevada takes into account intervening developments.  So Barrick’s assurance 

that “Barrick Gold has historically had a far less centralized management 

structure, allowing its subsidiaries to manage its mining interest in a diffused 

regional structure” (Barrick Gold Opp. 19:13–15) invokes what Barrick 

Goldstrike itself has characterized as an outdated structure: Beginning in Janu-

ary 2014, Barrick eliminated the “regional structure,” meaning that some of the 

corporate functions performed at the regional level are now performed directly 

by Barrick Gold.  (ECF 297, at 3 n.2, Ex. 5.)  If Barrick Gold used to communi-

cate its policies “through regional management” (Barrick Gold Opp. 4:16–17), it 

now exercises that control directly. 

Besides, the federal district court did not dismiss Barrick Goldstrike 

based on the strength of its corporate formalities.  (See ECF 302, Judge Du Or-

der at 7, Ex. 6 (noting but disregarding Barrick Goldstrike’s failure to register 

to do business in Utah).)  Control by a separately incorporated company is irrel-

evant for diversity jurisdiction, Johnson v. SmithKline Beecham Corp., 724 F.3d 

337, 352 (3d Cir. 2013), but it is a hallmark of alter ego, LFC Mktg. Group, Inc. 

v. Loomis, 116 Nev. 896, 904, 8 P.3d 841, 846–47 (2000).  Even as of 2009, Bar-

rick Goldstrike does not dispute its failure to hold board meetings or the annual 

meeting.  (See Opp. to MSJ on Savings Statute, at 6 (Haddock 13-14, Ex. 7; Re-

sponse to RFP 1, Ex. 8.)  And it does not dispute the unity of ownership and in-

terest between Barrick Gold and Barrick Goldstrike—right down to pursuing 
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lands in the same area of interest. 

Because the nerve center test looks at the locus of policymaking within a 

company, respecting corporate separation, it does not matter that Bullion has 

elected to proceed in this forum for reasons having little to do with the merit of 

Bullion’s Ninth Circuit appeal.  Bullion disputed that Barrick Goldstrike’s 

“nerve center” was in Salt Lake, even though several individuals who acted as 

corporate officers for a slate of companies (including Barrick Goldstrike) lived 

there.  For purposes of Bullion’s Ninth Circuit appeal, Bullion assumed that 

Barrick Gold North America, Inc. (BGNA) (not a party here) was not Barrick’s 

alter ego; the two were separate corporations, with separate nerve centers.  

“[E]xcept in rare circumstances where the corporate veil is properly disre-

garded,” a nerve center “is the operational center of the corporation in question, 

giving proper regard to the corporate identity—not necessarily the ultimate 

‘nerve center,’ in the sense of the place where the real power resides.”  Topp v. 

CompAir Inc., 814 F.2d 830, 835 (1st Cir. 1987).  If BGNA were Barrick’s alter 

ego, then it would not be so important for BGNA employees to change into their 

“Barrick officer” outfit before issuing directions—nerve-center activity for 

BGNA would count as nerve-center activity for Barrick.  It is only because Bar-

rick contended that the two entities were separate that it mattered which entity 

issued the direction. 

But even though the federal court did not reach the issue, the inklings of 

misuse of the corporate form first appeared in Barrick’s treatment of Barrick 

Goldstrike and a slew of regional entities.  That Barrick was revealed to have 

also used these other entities to purchase properties in Bullion’s area of interest 

only confirms the abuse of Barrick’s corporate web. 

D. Exercising Jurisdiction Is Reasonable 

“[W]here a defendant who purposefully has directed his activities at fo-

rum residents seeks to defeat jurisdiction, he must present a compelling case 
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that the presence of some other considerations would render jurisdiction unrea-

sonable.”  Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 477 (1985). 

Here, Barrick Gold cannot argue that a Nevada forum is unreasonable, 

especially in a case squarely focused on Barrick Gold’s interference in property 

arrangements in Nevada and Barrick Gold’s creation of a Nevada joint venture.  

Indeed, Barrick Gold’s selection of a Nevada forum for the joint venture operat-

ing agreement shows that Barrick Gold expected to be haled into Nevada 

courts.  (Barrick Nevada Holding App. 217, Operating Agreement, § 13.1; Bar-

rick Nevada Holding App. 354, Amended Operating Agreement, § 14.1.) 

E. Barrick Nevada Holding LLC Is Subject to Jurisdiction 

The aptly named Barrick Nevada Holding LLC is likewise subject to suit 

in Nevada, at least for these claims. 

1. Barrick Nevada Holding Has Minimum Contacts 

As with Barrick Gold, Barrick Nevada Holding exists because of a con-

tested series of transactions, all directed at or centered in Nevada: the for-

mation of a Nevada joint venture that divested Barrick Goldstrike’s ownership 

of properties in the area of interest and assigned its ownership stake to Barrick 

Nevada Holding.  (2d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 32, 83.)  Even if Barrick Nevada Holding 

is not itself a Nevada company, it was created specifically to absorb a Nevada 

company’s ownership interest in Nevada properties, now held by a different Ne-

vada company.  Barrick Nevada Holding’s coordination with Nevada entities 

over the transfer of Nevada mineral claims and other real property is precisely 

the kind of minimum contact that warrants the exercise of personal jurisdiction. 

2. Barrick Nevada Holding Is an Agent and Alter Ego 

And of course, Bullion alleges that Barrick Nevada Holding was more 

than just a participant in a coordinated transfer of property and ownership in-

terest.  Rather, Barrick Nevada Holding is part of the common enterprise that 

PA 1060



 

19 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Barrick Gold and its other subsidiaries are using to block Bullion’s royalty.  It 

is, in the joint-venture scheme, an agent of both Barrick Goldstrike (with Ne-

vada contacts) and Barrick Gold (with Nevada contacts and itself an alter ego of 

Barrick Goldstrike), as discussed above.  It is therefore equally appropriate to 

exercise jurisdiction over Barrick Nevada Holding as an agent or alter ego of 

these other Barrick entities. 

III. 
 

BULLION HAS TIMELY CLAIMS  

Barrick Gold recycles the statute-of-limitations arguments advanced by 

Barrick Goldstrike both before this Court and the Nevada Supreme Court in a 

writ petition.  (Barrick Gold Mot. 20–21.)  They were wrong then, and they are 

wrong now.  Even if Bullion’s voluntary dismissal without prejudice in 2009 did 

not toll the running of the statute of limitations with respect to the claims in 

that suit, it did not keep Bullion from filing a new complaint based on different, 

more recent conduct.  As Bullion’s declaratory relief claims are necessarily pro-

spective and were never adjudicated, they are likewise timely. 

A. Bullion Can Recover for the Ongoing 
Breaches within the Statute of Limitations 

1. Repeated, Continuing Breaches of a Periodic 
Royalty Toll New Limitations Periods 

“[W]here contract obligations are payable by installments, the limitations 

statute begins to run only with respect to each installment when due.”  Clayton 

v. Gardner, 107 Nev. 468, 470, 813 P.2d 997, 999 (1991).  So under Nevada’s six-

year statute of limitation for most contract claims, NRS 11.190(1), “only those 

installments that were due more than six years” before the complaint “are 

barred by the limitations statute.”  Id. at 471, 813 P.2d at 999. 

It is “well-established . . . in the context of gas, oil, and mineral contracts” 
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that such interests “should be construed as divisible contracts, with each under-

payment [or nonpayment] giving rise to a separate cause of action.”  Lutz v. 

Chesapeake Appalachia, L.L.C., 717 F.3d 459, 466 (6th Cir. 2013).  As in McKel-

lar v. McKellar, 110 Nev. 200, 871 P.2d 296 (1994), waiting years or even dec-

ades to sue does not waive the plaintiff’s right to recover the last six years of 

nonpayments. 

2. Barrick Is Continually Breaching 
its Monthly Royalty Obligation 

Here, Bullion’s royalty is “due on the first day of each month” or “no later 

than FORTY-FIVE (45) days after the date payment for production sales is re-

ceived.”  (2d Am. Compl., ¶ 44 & Ex. 1, ¶ 4(E).)  Barrick Gold becomes newly lia-

ble under the agreement, is newly and unjustly enriched, and inflicts new harm 

on Bullion each month that it withholds the royalty.  (2d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 55–60.) 

B. Bullion’s Claims for Prospective Relief, 
Including Declaratory Relief, Remain Timely 

Bullion’s declaratory relief claims are also timely because that kind of re-

lief is prospective, which is not barred even when retrospective damages are.  

City of Fernley v. State, Dep’t of Taxation, 132 Nev. 32, 42–44, 366 P.3d 699, 

706–07 (2016); see also McCormick v. Bisbee, 401 P.3d 1146 n.3 (Nev. 2017) (un-

published disposition) (applying Fernley outside of Fernley’s separation-of-pow-

ers context).  That is because a declaratory-relief claim does not have its own 

statute of limitations that cuts off an otherwise timely claim for damages; ra-

ther, “the right to declaratory relief continues until the right to coercive relief, 

as between the parties, has itself been extinguished.”  Commercial Union Ins. 

Co. v. Porter Hayden Co., 698 A.2d 1167, 1192–93 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 1997) 

(discussing cases).  An early right to declaratory relief does not trigger the stat-

ute of limitations on damages claims.  Id. (citing W. Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Evans, 

636 P.2d 111, 114 (Ariz. 1981)); see also Maguire v. Hibernia Sav. & Loan Soc., 

146 P.2d 673, 681 (Cal. 1944); Jaffe v. Carroll, 110 Cal. Rptr. 435, 439 (Cal. Ct. 
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App. 1973). 

Here, because Bullion’s claims for Barrick Gold’s continuing, periodic 

breaches are not otherwise barred, Bullion still has viable claims for declaratory 

and other prospective relief.  Bullion’s prior request for prospective relief in a 

complaint that was dismissed without prejudice on jurisdictional grounds does 

not cut off Bullion’s right to seek that relief or Bullion’s timely claims for dam-

ages now. 

C. Bullion’s Claims Are Based on New  
and Previously Unknown Conduct 

As discussed above, this case is not the same as the federal lawsuit.  De-

spite a common nexus of the defendants’ liability to Bullion under the 1979 

Agreement or unjust enrichment, Bullion’s second amended complaint is based 

on facts that were unknown or did not exist during much of the federal litiga-

tion.  For example, Barrick Gold and Barrick Goldstrike did not notify Bullion 

of the existence of production by other Barrick entities in the area of interest, a 

concealment that tolls the statute.  See Winn v. Sunrise Hosp. & Med. Ctr., 128 

Nev. 246, 256, 277 P.3d 458, 464 (2012).  Likewise, a declaration of Barrick 

Gold’s or Nevada Gold Mines’s future liability depends on the impact of the par-

ties’ joint venture agreement, which did not exist during any part of the federal 

suit. 

D. Bullion’s Federal Lawsuit Against Barrick Gold 
Did Not “Accelerate” the Statute of  
Limitations for All Possible Future Breaches 

Even if Barrick Gold were correct that the claims that Bullion asserted 

against Barrick Gold in the 2009 suit “accrued on the date they were previously 

filed in the federal action – June 22, 2009” (Barrick Gold Mot. 21:2–3), there is 

no authority (and Barrick Gold cites none) to suggest that Bullion’s new claims 

all accrued on that date.  As discussed above, they could not have. 

 In Barrick Goldstrike’s earlier brief and writ petition, it suggested that 
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Schwartz v. Wasserburger, 117 Nev. 703, 30 P.3d 1114 (2001) stands for the 

proposition that filing suit on an installment contract accelerates the statute of 

limitations, such that a later dismissal will bar refiling on not-yet-accrued 

breaches.  According to Barrick Goldstrike, once Bullion filed suit in federal 

court, that act constituted an election to sue for all possible future breaches of 

as-yet-undue royalties, accelerating the statute of limitations seven decades, 

from 2078 to 2009.   

Barrick Gold wisely avoids citing Schwartz, as it has no application here. 

First, the plaintiff in Schwartz, because of the defendants’ anticipatory repudia-

tion, was able to accelerate a right to future, fixed installments to the date of fil-

ing.  117 Nev. at 706–07, 30 P.3d at 1116.  But Bullion could not accelerate its 

right to future royalty payments because it depends on an unknowable fact: 

how much gold and other minerals Barrick will produce each month for the next 

six decades.5  Second, Bullion did not terminate the contract, as required for ac-

celeration; Bullion continues to perform its noncompetition covenant.  See Ro-

mano v. Rockwell Int’l, Inc., 926 P.2d 1114, 1120 (Cal. 1996) (emphasis added).  

Outside the fixed-installment situation of Schwartz, a dismissal without preju-

dice has no statute-of-limitations consequences.  Indeed, to hold a volunatray 

                                         
5 See OK Sales, Inc. v. Canadian Tool & Die, Ltd., 08-CV-24-TCK-TLW, 2009 
WL 961791, at *8–10 (N.D. Okla. Mar. 31, 2009) (sales commission); Operators’ 
Oil Co. v. Barbre, 65 F.2d 857, 860–61 (10th Cir. 1933) (oil royalty).  While the 
plaintiff “is entitled to recover his royalties to date,” the defendant’s “obligation 
to pay future royalties remains conditional and dependent upon” future produc-
tion (or sales), “if any.”  Kozak v. Medtronic, Inc., CIV.A. H-03-4400, 2006 WL 
5207231, at *2 (S.D. Tex. Sept. 28, 2006).  In that situation, the most a plaintiff 
can do is to request declaratory relief or an accounting; the doctrine of anticipa-
tory repudiation cannot apply to accelerate the plaintiff’s right to actual dam-
ages.  Kozak v. Medtronic, Inc., CIV.A. H-03-4400, 2006 WL 5207231, at *2 
(S.D. Tex. Sept. 28, 2006); see also Operators’ Oil Co., 65 F.2d at 860–61; accord 
OK Sales, Inc. v. Canadian Tool & Die, Ltd., 08-CV-24-TCK-TLW, 2009 WL 
961791, at *10 n.12 (N.D. Okla. Mar. 31, 2009). 
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dismissal “has a decisive legal effect on starting the statute of limitations pe-

riod, but zero effect on its tolling”—“locking plaintiff into” an accelerated stat-

ute of limitations despite the later dismissal without prejudice—would be 

“[g]rasping at straws” and “logically incoherent and patently unfair.”  See Ra-

mona Inv. Grp. II v. United States (Ramona II), 12-652C, 2014 WL 7129717, at 

*2–4 (Fed. Cl. Dec. 15, 2014) (quoting Ramona Inv. Grp. v. United States (Ra-

mona I), 115 Fed. Cl. 704, 707–08 (2014)).    

E. Regardless of Barrick Gold’s Contractual Liability, 
It Has Been Continuously and Unjustly Enriched 

Equally continuous has been Barrick Gold’s unjust enrichment at Bul-

lion’s expense.  Though Barrick Gold tries to dismiss Bullion as a gadfly, it is 

undisputed that Bullion owned valuable mining claims and that, without Bul-

lion’s total and essentially permanent (99-year) exit from the area of interest, 

purchasing land and establishing profitable mining operations would have been 

far more difficult.  Barrick Gold itself praises the efficiencies in linking arms 

with Newmont, noting that “[b]y removing the fences that had previously sepa-

rated geologically connected assets, mines and projects that clearly belonged to-

gether could be combined into larger and more efficient operations, with sub-

stantial savings as an immediate benefit.”  News Release, Nevada Gold Mines 

Exceeded All Expectations in First Year, Says Barrick, BARRICK, July 1, 2020, 

available at 

https://www.barrick.com/news/news-details/2020/nevada-gold-mines-exceeded-

all-expectations-in-first-year-says-barrick/default.aspx (last visited Aug. 19, 

2020).  “[T]he combination of geographically adjacent operations” (Nevada Gold 

Mines Mot. 4:14–16) is a tremendous value.  Bullion, were it permitted to stake 

claims in the area of interest, might have presented just such a “fence” between 

“geologically connected assets.”  Bullion’s promised noncompetition has been 

continuous, just as has Barrick Gold’s unjust enrichment. 
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F. Barrick Gold’s Alter Ego Liability Was Not Clear Before Now 

The element of fraud or injustice did not become clear until Barrick 

Goldstrike announced, on July 11, that it was transferring “all of its interests” 

in the area of interest “to Nevada Gold Mines, LLC,” the joint venture that Bar-

rick had formed with Newmont.  (Goldstrike’s Supp. Ans. to Interrogs, dated 

July 11, 2019, quoted in Barrick Goldstrike Opp. to Bullion’s Motion to Amend, 

at 8:1–4.) 

Abuse of the corporate form is not an accusation that Bullion makes 

lightly.  While Bullion began to become aware of some corporate in late 2017 

and early 2018, what Barrick represented to be its unusual corporate structure 

seemed aimed more at destroying diversity in federal court.  To be sure, that 

was a jurisdictional manipulation, see Hertz Corp. v. Friend, 559 U.S. 77, 97 

(2010), but Bullion did not see in that the “fraud or injustice” on Bullion’s sub-

stantive claims to justify a claim of alter ego.  When Bullion filed this complaint 

in 2018, it had learned that “Barrick” owned previously undisclosed properties 

in the area of interest, but again Bullion could not be certain which Barrick en-

tity owned these properties.  If it turned out that Barrick Goldstrike owned all 

of them, then Bullion could have amended its complaint accordingly. 

Instead, in 2019, Barrick upended the chessboard and sent the pieces 

scattering:  It entered a joint venture with Newmont to acquire a massive stake 

in area-of-interest properties that are subject to Bullion’s royalty.  Barrick 

Goldstrike, who already had operations in the area of interest—but who, incon-

veniently, had contractually assumed the obligation to pay Bullion’s royalty on 

any production in the area of interest (1990 Option Agreement § 7.3(B)(3)(a), 

BMM 3697, & Ex. F, BMM 3719, Ex. 9)—was passed over.  Instead, as the oppo-

sitions disclose, Barrick created a new entity, Barrick Nevada Holding LLC, to 

absorb Barrick’s 61.5% stake in the Nevada Gold Mines venture, and handed all 

of Barrick Goldstrike’s and Barrick Exploration’s area-of-interest acquisitions to 
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the joint venture, Nevada Gold Mines.  (Barrick Gold App. Ex. L.) 

IV. 
 

CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST IS A VALID REMEDY 

Although constructive trust is a remedy, not a cause of action, Bullion 

properly asserts that remedy in an abundance of caution. 

A. The Res of the Trust Is the Mineral Production 

Barrick first tries a magic trick.  Barrick is correct that a “liability does 

not constitute property that may be subject to a constructive trust.”  Danning v. 

Lum's, Inc., 86 Nev. 868, 871, 478 P.2d 166, 168 (1970).  But it turns things 

topsy-turvy by arguing that as soon as the plaintiff states that it is owed the as-

sets in the constructive trust, those assets turn into liabilities, which—poof!—

eliminate the right to a constructive trust.  (Barrick Gold Opp. 18:8–12 (citing 

Danning v. Lum's, Inc., 86 Nev. 868, 871, 478 P.2d 166, 168 (1970)).) 

No matter how many spells Barrick incants, the constructive-trust rem-

edy will not disappear.  The res of the trust here is not Barrick’s liability to Bul-

lion.  The res is the mineral assets themselves.  As indicated by the term “reten-

tion of royalties” (2d Am. Compl. ¶ 69), Bullion is not referring to a bare liabil-

ity; rather, Barrick is retaining the mineral assets equal in value to the royalty 

to which Bullion is entitled.  For example, if Barrick mines gold worth $100, $1 

of that gold is “Bullion’s royalty,” but that $1 is still Barrick’s asset—a retention 

of that royalty—subject to a constructive trust. 

B. The Remedy Is Appropriate for Alter Ego 

Constructive trust is an appropriate remedy to reach the assets that have 

been spirited away from (or to) an alter ego.  See, e.g., McWilliams Ballard, Inc. 

v. Level 2 Dev., 697 F. Supp. 2d 101, 111 (D.D.C. 2010) (explaining the availabil-

ity of constructive trust as a remedy for corporate veil-piercing).  This is con-
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sistent with the close association between alter ego and notions of fraud or un-

just enrichment.  See Waldman v. Maini, 124 Nev. 1121, 1131, 195 P.3d 850, 

857 (2008) (noting that the remedy furthers “the effectuation of justice” but does 

not always require fraud or misconduct). 

C. Bullion Reposed its Trust in Barrick,  
Who Is in a Superior Position  

Even if the alter-ego claim did not in itself warrant a constructive trust, 

Barrick’s special relationship with Bullion does.  See Waldman v. Maini, 124 

Nev. 1121, 1131, 195 P.3d 850, 857 (2008).  Barrick dismisses its connection to 

Bullion as a “mere contractual relationship” (Barrick Gold Opp. 18:13–14), but 

that is not so. 

1. Contracting Parties Can Be in a  
Special Relationship of Confidence 

The quintessential relationship of confidence is that of the fiduciary: 

The essence of a fiduciary or confidential relationship is that 
the parties do not deal on equal terms, since the person in 
whom trust and confidence is reposed and who accepts that 
trust and confidence is in a superior position to exert unique 
influence over the dependent party. 

Hoopes v. Hammargren, 102 Nev. 425, 431, 725 P.2d 238, 242 (1986) (quoting 

Barbara A. v. John G., 193 Cal. Rptr. 422, 432 (Cal. Ct. App. 1983)).   

But as a parallel line of Nevada cases points out, even relationship that 

are not fully fiduciary can still create an expectation of trust and confidence.  

See Perry v. Jordan, 111 Nev. 943, 947, 900 P.2d 335, 337–38 (1995); Mackin-

tosh v. Jack Matthews & Co., 109 Nev. 628, 635, 855 P.2d 549, 554 (1993); Vil-

lalon v. Bowen, 70 Nev. 456, 467–68, 273 P.2d 409, 414–15 (1954).  In Mackin-

tosh v. Jack Matthews & Co., the bank acted as both the seller and lender, 

which suggested “a special relationship” between the bank and the buyer giving 

rise to a duty of disclosure. 
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2. Bullion, Because of its Reliance on Barrick’s  
Accounting, Is in a Relationship of Confidence 

Here, although Barrick shares some aspects of a true fiduciary given its 

“superior authoritative position” to “exert unique influence” over Bullion, 

Hoopes v. Hammargren, 102 Nev. 425, 431, 432, 725 P.2d 238, 242, 243 (1986), 

this Court need not go that far.  Like the seller-lender relationship in Mackin-

tosh, the special relationship here arises from Barrick’s acting both as the mine 

operator producing minerals subject to Bullion’s royalty and as the accountant 

reporting how much Bullion is owed.  It is not just that Barrick is in a better po-

sition to know; Bullion cannot independently verify any of the production fig-

ures from Barrick.  Barrick is slicing its cake in secret, and Bullion has to take 

Barrick’s word for it, a circumstance that leaves Bullion vulnerable to exploita-

tion.  At least in the context of calculating Bullion’s royalty, Barrick is indeed in 

a special relationship of confidence with Bullion. 

CONCLUSION 

This Court has jurisdiction over Barrick Gold and Barrick Nevada Hold-

ing.  And Bullion’s claims are both valid and timely.  This Court should deny 

the motions to dismiss. 

Dated this 20th day of August, 2020. 

LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP 

By:  /s/ Abraham G. Smith                 
DANIEL F. POLSENBERG (SBN 2376) 
J CHRISTOPHER JORGENSEN (SBN 5382) 
JOEL D. HENRIOD (SBN 8492) 
ABRAHAM G. SMITH (SBN 13,250) 
3993 Howard Hughes Parkway,  
Suite 600Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
 
CLAYTON P. BRUST (SBN 5234) 
KENT ROBISON (SBN 1167 
ROBISON, SIMONS, SHARP & BRUST, P.C. 
71 Washington Street 
Reno, Nevada 89503 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

Pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 5(b) and E.D.C.R. 8.05, I certify that I caused 

the foregoing Combined Opposition to be filed via the Court’s E-File & Serve Sys-

tem upon the following persons: 

Kristine E. Johnson, Esq.  
Brandon J. Mark, Esq. 
PARSONS BEHLE & LATIMER 
201 South Main Street, Suite 1800 
Salt Lake City, Utah 84111 
 
Michael R. Kealy, Esq.  
Ashely C. Nikkel, Esq.  
PARSONS BEHLE & LATIMER 
50 West Liberty Street, Suite 750 
Reno, Nevada 89501 
 
Attorneys for Barrick Goldstrike Mines, Inc., Barrick Gold Exploration 
Inc.; Nevada Gold Mines, LLC; and Barrick Nevada Holdings LLC 
 
James J. Pisanelli, Esq.  
Debra L. Spinelli, Esq.  
Dustun H. Holmes, Esq. 
Kirill V. Mikhaylov, Eq.  
PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
400 South 7th Street, Suite 300 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
 
Attorneys for Barrick Gold Corporation; Nevada Gold Mines, LLC; and 
Barrick Nevada Holdings LLC 

 
 Dated this 20th day of August, 2020. 

 
      /s/ Jessie M. Helm      
    an employee of Lewis Roca Rothgerber Christie LLP 
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PRESS RELEASE 
 

  Tor#: 8123960.2 

 
 

NEVADA GOLD MINES LAUNCHED: 
BEST ASSETS, BEST PEOPLE WILL DELIVER BEST VALUE 
 
 
Elko, Nevada, July 1, 2019  —  Barrick Gold Corporation (NYSE:GOLD) (TSX:ABX) and Newmont 
Goldcorp Corporation (NYSE:NEM) (TSX:NGT) have successfully concluded the transaction establishing 
Nevada Gold Mines LLC.  The new company, owned 61.5% and operated by Barrick, and owned 38.5% by 
Newmont Goldcorp, was officially launched today. 
 
The new joint venture will rank as the largest global gold producing complex by a wide margin, with three of 
the world’s top 10 Tier One1 gold assets (Goldstrike/Carlin, Cortez and Turquoise Ridge/Twin Creeks) and 
potentially another one in the making (Goldrush).   
 
Its assets in North-eastern Nevada comprise 10 underground and 12 open pit mines, two autoclave facilities, 
two roasting facilities, four oxide mills, a flotation plant and five heap leach facilities.  In 2018 these 
operations produced a total of 4.1 million ounces of gold, approximately double that of the industry’s next 
largest gold mine (Muruntau in Uzbekistan).  The company has a strong reserve and resource base with 
Proven and Probable Reserves of 48.3 million ounces; Measured and Indicated Resources of 27.4 million 
ounces; and a further 7.5 million ounces of Inferred Resources with still more potential.2,3,4 
 
Nevada Gold Mines is targeting production of between 1.8 and 1.9 million ounces at a preliminary estimated 
cost of sales5 of $940 to $970 per ounce and AISC6 of $920 to $950 per ounce for the second half of 2019.  
 
Barrick President and Chief Executive Officer Mark Bristow, who is chairman of the new company, says the 
establishment of Nevada Gold Mines was designed to combine arguably the industry’s best assets and 
people in order to deliver the best value to stakeholders. 
 
“Its creation was driven by a compelling logic which had long been evident to all but had been elusive for 
two decades until we finally achieved a breakthrough this year,” Bristow said. 
 
“Over the past months we have selected and set Nevada Gold Mines’ leadership in place.  The company 
now has one team that shares one vision, and who are more than ready to race out of the starting blocks.  
We have also identified the very significant synergy opportunities which are immediately available and those 
which have been targeted for the future.” 
 
Gary Goldberg, Newmont Goldcorp’s Chief Executive Officer said, “This innovative joint venture represents 
a unique opportunity to generate additional long-term value for our shareholders, employees, and the 
communities of northern Nevada.  By combining our assets and talent in Nevada, the joint venture will 
extend safe, profitable and responsible production much further than what each company could have done 
on its own.  We look forward to actively participating in and supporting the JV to deliver a positive step-
change in results.” 
 
Identified synergies are expected to deliver up to $500 million per year over the first five years from 2020, 
stepping down over time after that.  These will come mainly from integrated mine planning, optimized mining 
and processing, cost reductions and the combination of the adjacent Turquoise Ridge and Twin Creeks,  
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which will be operated as a single mine.  Second half guidance builds in those synergies that the company 
believes it should be able to realize within the next six months, representing approximately half of the 
targeted annual cash flow improvements.  With the closing of the JV now complete, the company will look 
to incorporate further synergies to benefit 2020 and beyond.   
 
The future benefits include longer profitable mine lives, longer-term employment opportunities, longer-term 
benefit-sharing with local communities and longer-term advantages for Nevada’s economy. 
 
Bristow noted that the Nevada Gold Mines management team included executives from both joint venture 
partners.  The Executive Managing Director is Greg Walker, formerly head of operations and technical 
excellence for Barrick’s North American region.  Barrick has three board seats and Newmont Goldcorp two, 
with the board supported by technical, finance and exploration advisory committees on which both 
companies have equal representation. 
 
 

Enquiries: 
  Barrick Investor and  

Media Relations 
Kathy du Plessis 
+44 20 7557 7738 
Email: barrick@dpapr.com 

 
Website: www.barrick.com 
 
Cautionary Statement on Forward-Looking Information 
This press release contains statements which are, or may be deemed to be, “forward-looking statements” (or “forward-looking 
information”), under applicable securities laws including for the purposes of the US Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. 
Forward-looking statements are prospective in nature and are not based on historical facts, but rather on current expectations and 
projections of the management of Barrick about future events, and are therefore subject to risks and uncertainties which could 
cause actual results to differ materially from the future results expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. The forward-
looking statements contained in this press release include statements relating to: the expected impact of the creation of the new 
joint venture, including potential synergies; the potential for Goldrush to become a Tier One gold asset; and other statements other 
than historical facts. 
 
Although Barrick believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable, Barrick can give no 
assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct. By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risk and uncertainty 
because they relate to events and depend on circumstances that will occur in the future. There are a number of factors that could 
cause actual results and developments to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. 
These factors include: risks relating to Nevada Gold Mines, Barrick and Newmont Goldcorp’s respective credit ratings; local and 
global political and economic conditions; Barrick’s economic model; liquidity risks; fluctuations in the spot and forward price of gold, 
copper, or certain other commodities (such as silver, diesel fuel, natural gas, and electricity); financial services risk; the risks 
associated with each of Nevada Gold Mines’, Barrick’s and Newmont Goldcorp’s brand, reputation and trust; environmental risks; 
safety and technology risks; the ability to realize the anticipated benefits of the joint venture (including estimated synergies and 
financial benefits) or implementing the business plan for the joint venture; legal or regulatory developments and changes; risks 
associated with working with partners in jointly controlled assets; employee relations including loss of key employees; the outcome 
of any litigation, arbitration or other dispute proceeding; the impact of any acquisitions or similar transactions; competition and 
market risks; the impact of foreign exchange rates; pricing pressures; the possibility that future exploration results will not be 
consistent with expectations; risks that exploration data may be incomplete and considerable additional work may be required to 
complete further evaluation, including but not limited to drilling, engineering and socioeconomic studies and investment; risk of loss 
due to acts of war, terrorism, sabotage and civil disturbances; contests over title to properties, particularly title to undeveloped 
properties, or over access to water, power and other required infrastructure; and business continuity and crisis management. Other 
unknown or unpredictable factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements. Such 
forward-looking statements should therefore be construed in the light of such factors. 
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Neither Barrick, Newmont Goldcorp nor any of their respective directors, officers, employees or advisers, provides any 
representation, assurance or guarantee that the occurrence of the events expressed or implied in any forward-looking statements 
in this press release will actually occur. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Other 
than in accordance with their legal or regulatory obligations, neither Barrick nor Newmont Goldcorp is not under any obligation, and 
both Barrick and Newmont Goldcorp expressly disclaim any intention or obligation, to update or revise any forward-looking 
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. Investors should not assume that any lack of update 
to a previously issued “forward-looking statement” constitutes a reaffirmation of that statement. 
 
Newmont Goldcorp is not affirming or adopting any statements or reports attributed to Barrick in this press release or made by 
Barrick outside of this press release. For a detailed discussion of risks and other factors related to Newmont Goldcorp, see Newmont 
Goldcorp’s 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) as well as Newmont 
Goldcorp’s other SEC filings, available on the SEC website or www.newmontgoldcorp.com. 
 
Third Party Data 
Certain comparisons of Barrick, Newmont Goldcorp and their industry peers are based on data obtained from Wood Mackenzie. 
Wood Mackenzie is an independent third party research and consultancy firm that provides data for, among others, the metals and 
mining industry. Wood Mackenzie does not have any affiliation to Barrick or Newmont Goldcorp. 
 
Other than in respect of their own mines, neither Barrick nor Newmont Goldcorp has the ability to verify the data or information 
obtained from Wood Mackenzie and the non-GAAP financial performance measures used by Wood Mackenzie may not correspond 
to the non-GAAP financial performance measures calculated by Barrick, Newmont Goldcorp or their respective industry peers. For 
more information on these non-GAAP financial performance measures see Endnote 1. 
 
Neither Barrick nor Newmont Goldcorp has sought or obtained consent from any third party to be quoted in this press release. 
 
Technical Information 
The scientific and technical information contained in this press release in respect of Barrick has been reviewed and approved for 
release by Steven Yopps, MMSA, Director - Metallurgy, North America and Rodney Quick, MSc, Pr. Sci.Nat, Mineral Resource 
Management and Evaluation Executive, each a “Qualified Person” as defined in National Instrument 43-101 – Standards of 
Disclosure for Mineral Projects. 
 
Endnotes 
1. A Tier One gold asset is a mine with a stated mine life in excess of 10 years with annual production of at least five hundred 

thousand ounces of gold and total cash cost per ounce within the bottom half of Wood Mackenzie’s cost curve tools 
(excluding state-owned and privately owned mines). Total cash cost per ounce is based on data from Wood Mackenzie as 
of August 31, 2018, except in respect of Barrick’s mines where Barrick relied on its internal data which is more current and 
reliable. The Wood Mackenzie calculation of total cash cost per ounce may not be identical to the manner in which Barrick 
calculates comparable measures. Total cash cost per ounce is a non-GAAP financial performance measure with no 
standardized meaning under IFRS and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers. 
Total cash cost per ounce should not be considered by investors as an alternative to cost of sales or to other IFRS 
measures. Barrick believes that total cash cost per ounce is a useful indicator for investors and management of a mining 
company’s performance as it provides an indication of a company’s profitability and efficiency, the trends in cash costs as 
the company’s operations mature, and a benchmark of performance to allow for comparison against other companies. 

 
2. The pro forma reserves and resources figures of Nevada Gold Mines were derived by adding the respective reserves and 

resources in respect of Nevada operations reported by Barrick in its Q4 2018 Report and Newmont in its press release 
dated February 21, 2019 reporting its 2018 Reserves and Resources and its annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2018 in respect of the relevant Nevada properties set out in endnotes 3 and 4. The pro forma reserves 
and resources are provided for illustrative purposes only. Barrick and Newmont calculate such figures based on different 
standards and assumptions, and accordingly such figures may not be directly comparable and the pro forma reserves and 
resources may be subject to adjustments due to such differing standards and assumptions. In particular, Barrick mineral 
reserves and resources have been prepared according to Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum 2014 
Definition Standards for Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves as incorporated by National Instrument 43-101 – 
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects, which differ from the requirements of U.S. securities laws. Newmont’s 
reported reserves are prepared in compliance with Industry Guide 7 published by the SEC, however, the SEC does not 
recognize the terms “resources” and “measured and indicted resources”. Newmont has determined that its reported 
“resources” would be substantively the same as those prepared using Guidelines established by the Society of Mining, 
Metallurgy and Exploration (SME) and that its reported measured and indicated resources (combined) are equivalent to 
“Mineralized Material” disclosed in its annual report on Form 10-K. 

  
3. Reserves and resources of Barrick in Nevada are stated on an attributable basis as of December 31, 2018 and include 

Goldstrike, Cortez, Goldrush, South Arturo (60%) and Turquoise Ridge (75%). Proven reserves of 84.4 million tonnes 
grading 4.36g/t, representing 11.8 million ounces of gold. Probable reserves of 155.6 million tonnes grading 2.93g/t, 
representing 14.7 million ounces of gold. Measured resources of 13.5 million tonnes grading 4.22g/t, representing 1.8 
million ounces of gold. Indicated resources of 101.6 million tonnes grading 4.34g/t, representing 14.2 million ounces of 
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gold. Inferred resources of 28.7 million tonnes grading 5.2g/t, representing 4.8 million ounces of gold. Complete mineral 
reserve and resource data for all Barrick mines and projects referenced in this press release, including tonnes, grades, 
and ounces, as well as the assumptions on which the mineral reserves for Barrick are reported, are set out in Barrick’s Q4 
2018 Report issued on February 13, 2019. 

  
4. Reserves and resources of Newmont in Nevada are stated on an attributable basis as of December 31, 2018 and include 

Carlin, Phoenix, Lone Tree, Twin Creeks (including Newmont’s 25% equity in Turquoise Ridge) and Long Canyon. Proven 
reserves of 46.6 million tonnes grading 3.84g/t, representing 5.8 million ounces of gold. Probable reserves of 378.1 million 
tonnes grading 1.32g/t, representing 16.0 million ounces of gold. Measured resources of 19.7 million tonnes grading 2.2 
g/t, representing 1.4 million ounces of gold. Indicated resources of 244.4 million tonnes grading 1.27g/t, representing 10.0 
million ounces of gold. Inferred resources of 45.5 million tonnes grading 1.81g/t, representing 2.7 million ounces of gold. 
Complete mineral reserve and resource data for all Newmont mines and projects referenced in this press release, including 
tonnes, grades, and ounces, as well as the assumptions on which the mineral reserves for Newmont are reported, are set 
out in Newmont’s press release dated February 21, 2019 reporting its 2018 Reserves and Resources and its annual report 
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. 

 
5. Cost of Sales estimates stated prior to any fair value adjustments relating to the creation of the joint venture and will be 

updated in due course once these adjustments have been finalized 
 
6. “Total cash costs” per ounce and “All-in sustaining costs” per ounce are non-GAAP financial performance measures. “Total 

cash costs” per ounce starts with cost of sales applicable to gold production, but excludes the impact of depreciation, the 
non-controlling interest of cost of sales, and includes by-product credits. “All-in sustaining costs” per ounce begin with 
“Total cash costs” per ounce and add further costs which reflect the additional costs of operating a mine, primarily 
sustaining capital expenditures, sustaining leases, general & administrative costs, minesite exploration and evaluation 
costs, and reclamation cost accretion and amortization. Barrick believes that the use of “total cash costs” per ounce and 
“all-in sustaining costs” per ounce will assist investors, analysts and other stakeholders in understanding the costs 
associated with producing gold, understanding the economics of gold mining, assessing our operating performance and 
also our ability to generate free cash flow from current operations and to generate free cash flow on an overall Company 
basis. “Total cash costs” per ounce and “All-in sustaining costs” per ounce are intended to provide additional information 
only and do not have any standardized meaning under IFRS. Although a standardized definition of all-in sustaining costs 
was published in 2013 by the World Gold Council (a market development organization for the gold industry comprised of 
and funded by 27 gold mining companies from around the world, including Barrick), it is not a regulatory organization, and 
other companies may calculate this measure differently. Starting in the first quarter of 2019, Barrick has renamed "cash 
costs" to "total cash costs" when referring to its gold production. The calculation of total cash costs is identical to Barrick’s 
previous calculation of cash costs with only a change in the naming convention of this non-GAAP measure. These 
measures should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures prepared in accordance with IFRS. Further 
details on these non-GAAP measures are provided in the MD&A accompanying Barrick’s financial statements filed from 
time to time on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and on EDGAR at www.sec.gov. 

PA 1087



EXHIBIT 3

EXHIBIT 3
PA 1088



000044 

0000

44 

 

000044 

000044 

PA 1089



000045 

000045 

000045 

0000

45 

PA 1090



000046 

  

0000

46 

000046 

000046 

PA 1091



000047 

0000

47 

000047 

000047 

PA 1092



EXHIBIT 4

EXHIBIT 4
PA 1093



 

1 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

DECL 
CLAYTON P. BRUST (SBN 5234) 
KENT ROBISON (SBN 1167) 
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(775) 329-7941 (Fax) 
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Attorneys for Plaintiff 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

BULLION MONARCH MINING, 
INC., 

Plaintiff, 
 

vs. 
 
BARRICK GOLDSTRIKE MINES, 
INC.; BARRICK GOLD 
EXPLORATION INC.; ABX 
FINANCECO INC.; BARRICK GOLD 
CORPORATION; and DOES 1 
through 20, 

Defendants. 
 

Case No. A-18-785913-B 
 
Dep’t No. 11 

 
DECLARATION OF MICHAEL 

E. DEEBA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
I, Michael E, Deeba, hereby declare under penalty of perjury that the fol-

lowing is true and correct: 

1. I am a partner in the Global Forensics & Litigation Services practice 

of Baker Tilly US, LLP (“Baker Tilly”), a national public accounting and con-
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sulting firm that specializes in, among other things, auditing, tax, and consult-

ing services including, forensic accounting and investigatory services, valua-

tion, and providing litigation support to various constituents in connection with 

complex disputes.  I submit this declaration (the “Declaration”) on behalf of 

Baker Tilly in support of Bullion’s oppositions to the defendants’ motions to dis-

miss filed in the above-captioned matter.  Except as otherwise noted,1 I have 

personal knowledge of the matters set forth herein.   I make this declaration 

based upon my own personal knowledge, and I am competent to testify.  

2. Plaintiff’s counsel has informed me that this dispute concerns alle-

gations that Defendants owe Plaintiff royalty payments pursuant to a May 10, 

1979 royalty agreement (“1979 Agreement”).  Counsel has asked Baker Tilly to 

assume that Defendant Barrick Goldstrike Mines, Inc. (“Goldstrike”) is legally 

bound by the terms of the 1979 Agreement and that the 1979 Agreement re-

quires payment of royalties form mining properties acquired in the area of in-

terest set forth in the 1979 Agreement.  Counsel has also requested Baker Tilly 

to conduct forensic accounting and examination of the relationships of the other 

Defendants to help establish that the other Defendants are also liable for royal-

ties from production from the area of interest.   

3. I have been retained by Robison, Sharp, Sullivan & Burst Law, P.C. 

(“RSS&B”) on behalf of its client, Bullion Monarch Mining, Inc. (“Bullion”), as 

an expert in this matter. 

4. I have over 30 years of experience in the areas of fiduciary duties and 

corporate governance issues, related party transactions, forensic accounting and 

investigatory services, fraudulent transfers, fraud investigations, commercial 

                                         
1 Certain of the disclosures herein relate to matters within the personal knowledge of other 
professionals at Baker Tilly and are based on information provided to me by them. 
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damages modeling, restructuring, bankruptcy, insolvency, and valuation dis-

putes.  I have also served in court-appointed capacities such as a court-appointed 

expert witness, federal and state court receiver, Chapter 7 and Chapter 11 bank-

ruptcy trustee, and bankruptcy examiner, and for various corporate entities in 

these types of disputes.  I have provided financial advisory services and testi-

mony for various constituents in federal and state courts, and have served as an 

arbitrator.  I am a Certified Public Accountant (“CPA”), a Certified Insolvency 

& Restructuring Advisor (“CIRA”), a Certified Turnaround Professional (“CTP”), 

and Certified in Financial Forensics (“CFF”).   

5. Baker Tilly and I have also have substantial experience providing fi-

nancial and accounting services in connection with analyzing and opining on multi-

faceted corporate financial and operational structures, conducting asset tracing, 

assessing avoidance actions, and investigating claims regarding alter ego, disre-

gard of corporate separateness, de-facto mergers and various substantive con-

solidation issues.  

6. In July 2020, RSS&B, on behalf of Bullion, retained Baker Tilly to 

provide advisory and testimonial services in connection with the above captioned 

matter.  Baker Tilly’s primary scope of retention is to evaluate, analyze, and 

summarize the relevant financial factors necessary to assess the alter-ego claims 

asserted by the Plaintiffs (“Bullion Alter-Ego Claim”) for the purpose of assisting 

the trier of fact.  This assignment includes interpreting detailed records to con-

duct a forensic analysis and investigation into the interrelationships and 

changes in the corporate structure of the Defendants and assess the transfers of 

certain assets and/or mineral rights alleged to have had an impact on obligations 

set forth in the 1979 Agreement. 

7. Since Baker Tilly’s retention, it has begun to analyze the primary 

issues and facts outlined pursuant to the pleadings filed in this matter and has 
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also begun to analyze and study prior discovery and publically available infor-

mation.  However, as of the date of this Declaration, Baker Tilly has not com-

pleted its review and may require additional documents and information in con-

nection to matters within its scope of retention.   

8. Counsel has informed me that several of the Defendants have moved 

to dismiss the claims asserted by Bullion and that discovery has not been com-

pleted.  Baker Tilly needs a reasonable amount of time for analysis of prior dis-

covery and time and access to financial and non-financial information that is 

relevant to formulate and render opinions in this matter. 

9. Baker Tilly also needs time and the opportunity to examine discovery 

materials in connection with the 2019 Joint Venture Agreement between Bar-

rick Gold Corporation and Newmont Mining Corporation, including formation 

of other entities during this process.   

10. Based on my experience, conducting an examination of alter-ego is a 

fact-intensive inquiry requiring information that may not be readily available 

in the public domain, but which is required to conduct a robust analysis in the 

consideration of the proper factors to aid the trier of fact.  This includes, but is 

not limited to, additional financial and non-financial information and support-

ing documents regarding: (a) corporate formalities; (b) internal documents re-

lating to mergers/divestitures, joint ventures, sharing arrangements, asset and 

liability transfers; (c) related-party transactions and intercompany relations 

and debts; and (d) indicia of inadequate capital and inability to operate as a 

stand-alone entity. 

11. Supporting documents are needed to determine the Defendants com-

plex relationships, corporate structures, financial dependence with and for 

other related entities, corporate identity, lack of financial and corporate sepa-

rateness and corporate changes that would require investigation and analysis 
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to determine if such interrelationships exist between Goldstrike and the other 

Defendants in this case.   

12. Additional supporting documents are needed to examine and analyze 

any domination and control by any parent, subsidiary or other related entities. 

13. Additional discovery and analysis is necessary with regard to the 

facts, key factors and methods of the flow of funds, and accounting of ownership 

interest between Goldstrike and the other Defendants related as it relates to 

the Area of Interest.    

14. In particular, a review of the public filings reveals that since the 1979 

Agreement, there have been no less than 10 mergers, acquisitions, divestitures, 

asset exchanges or general corporate reorganizations involving the Goldstrike 

entities and mining properties and/or Area of Interest outlined in the 1979 

Agreement that would be the subject of further review and discovery needed for 

an review or investigation.  The evaluation of various seemingly complex agree-

ments outlining joint ventures, shared responsibility, asset exchanges, mer-

gers, and acquisitions would most likely require other non-public financial in-

formation to determine connections, control and financial interrelationships be-

tween the Defendants.   

15. In addition, without additional discovery, if the Court should deter-

mine that Goldstrike or any related party is an obligor to the 1979 Agreement, 

the highly complex structure of the Defendants’ corporate enterprise may hin-

der the determination of whether Goldstrike has the financial wherewithal to 

satisfy a judgment, or whether it relies on its parent entity or other affiliates to 

maintain adequate capital. 

16. For Baker Tilly to prepare and issue a report to assist the trier of fact 

in understanding the financial fact pattern, relationships between the parties, 

and other circumstances relating to this dispute, additional time for analysis 

and discovery may be necessary. 
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 Executed this 20th day of August, 

2020. 

 

 

 

 

   M

                                                   

MICHAEL E. DEEBA 
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Michael R. Kealy (Nevada Bar No. 0971) 
50 West Liberty Street, Suite 750 
Reno, NV  89501 
Telephone: (775) 323-1601 
Facsimile:  (775) 348-7250 
 
Francis M. Wikstrom (Utah Bar No. 3462; admitted pro hac vice) 
Michael P. Petrogeorge (Utah Bar No. 8870; admitted pro hac vice) 
Brandon J. Mark (Utah Bar No. 10439; admitted pro hac vice) 
One Utah Center 
201 South Main Street, Suite 1800 
Salt Lake City, UT  84111 
Telephone: (801) 536-6700 
Facsimile: (801) 536-6111 
Email: ecf@parsonsbehle.com  

Attorneys for Barrick Goldstrike Mines Inc. 

 

 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEVADA 

BULLION MONARCH MINING, INC., 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

BARRICK GOLDSTRIKE MINES INC., 

Defendant. 

Case No. 03:09-cv-612- MMD-WGC 
(Sub File of 3:08-cv-227- MMD-WGC) 

BARRICK GOLDSTRIKE MINES 
INC.’S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF 
RENEWED MOTION TO 
DISMISS FOR LACK OF 
SUBJECT-MATTER 
JURISDICTION 
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INTRODUCTION 

Defendant Barrick Goldstrike Mines Inc. (“Goldstrike”) filed its Renewed Motion to 

Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction [Doc. 281] (the “Renewed Motion”) setting forth 

specific facts establishing that Goldstrike’s “nerve center” was in Salt Lake in 2009, that Goldstrike 

was thus a citizen of Utah when plaintiff Bullion Monarch Mining, Inc. (“Bullion”) filed suit, and 

that this Court therefore lacks diversity jurisdiction. Bullion does not refute Goldstrike’s facts and 

comes forward with no competent evidence to support its claim that Goldstrike was a citizen of 

Nevada for jurisdictional purposes. 

Bullion argues that Goldstrike’s “nerve center” was in Nevada because its day-to-day 

operations were centered there. This argument seeks to revive tests that were expressly rejected in 

Hertz Corp. v. Friend, 559 U.S. 77, 92-93 (2010). The unrefuted evidence establishes Salt Lake as 

the “nerve center” under Hertz’s properly applied test. Next, Bullion urges this Court to ignore 

executive level decision making in Salt Lake because the officers and executives were technically 

employed by Barrick Gold of North America (“BGNA”), rather than Goldstrike. BGNA’s 

executives also served as Goldstrike’s officers, however, and BGNA’s purpose was to control, 

direct and coordinate the activities of Goldstrike. Bullion cites no law preventing this type of 

corporate management structure, and courts recognize that the officers of one company may work 

for and be the officers of another company. See Central West Virginia Co. v. Mountain St. Carbon, 

LLC, 636 F.3d 101, 107 (4th Cir. 2011). Finally, Bullion claims that if Goldstrike’s “nerve center” 

was not Nevada it was Toronto, the headquarters of its ultimate parent, Barrick Gold Corporation 

(“BGC”).1 Toronto had little involvement in the management of Goldstrike, and delegated the 

control, direction and coordination of Goldstrike’s activities to its executive officers in Salt Lake. 

Bullion cites no authority preventing such delegation.  

Bullion has the burden of persuasion in establishing jurisdiction. See Hertz, 559 U.S. at 96. 

This burden must be met with specific facts, supported by competent evidence, “under the same 

                                                 
1 Bullion also argues that Goldstrike’s headquarters could not have been in Utah because it failed 
to register there, and that justice requires the Renewed Motion to be denied. These arguments fail. 
See infra Argument, Sections IV & V. 
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evidentiary standard that governs in the summary judgment context.” Leite v. Crane Co., 749 F.3d  

1117, 1121 (9th Cir. 2014). Negative inferences do not suffice.  Burge v. Sunrise Med. (US) LLC, 

No. 13–cv–02215–PAB–MEH, 2013 WL 6467994, at *3 (D. Colo. Dec. 9, 2013). Bullion fails to 

meet its burden, and this Court should therefore dismiss this case. 

ARGUMENT 

I. Nevada was not the location of Goldstrike’s “nerve center” under Hertz. 

Bullion argues that Goldstrike was a citizen of Nevada because it had a General Manager 

and a large number of employees who conducted daily activities including mining, processing, 

contracting, procurement, compliance, etc. in the state.2 (Opp. at 5-10). This argument seeks to 

revive the “locus of operation” or the “center of corporate activities” test, both of which were 

rejected in Hertz. 559 U.S. at 92-93; Harris v. Rand, 682 F.3d 846, 851 (9th Cir. 2012).3 It is 

undisputed that none of Goldstrike’s senior corporate officers were located in Nevada. The high-

level corporate officers exercising ongoing, executive level decision making, including President 

Greg Lang (“Lang”), Vice President Mike Feehan (“Feehan”), and CFO Blake Measom 

(“Measom”) were located in Salt Lake. A majority of Goldstrike’s Board of Directors also resided 

in Salt Lake. These facts are dispositive in establishing Salt Lake as Goldstrike’s “nerve center”. 

                                                 
2 Bullion cites two newspaper articles from 2015 and 2016 and to a Nevada Secretary of State filing 
from 2018, suggesting that Goldstrike’s “nerve center” is now located in Nevada, arguing that 
Goldstrike has “made express what had previously been implicit.” (Opp. at 16). The cited 
documents are irrelevant because they do not identify the officers and directors of Goldstrike in 
2009, or discuss how Goldstrike was directed, controlled or coordinated at that time. Bullion fails 
to recognize  that the organizational structure described in the articles is substantially different than 
that which existed in 2009. Prior to January 2014, Barrick operated under a regional structure with 
Goldstrike’s corporate headquarters in Salt Lake. (See Second Supp. Decl. of Rich Haddock in 
Support of the Renewed Motion at ¶ 5.) In December 2013, Barrick announced that the regional 
structure was being eliminated. (Id.) Certain Goldstrike corporate functions previously performed 
by the Salt Lake office were shifted from Utah to the Goldstrike mine site, while others were shifted 
from Salt Lake to Toronto, (Id.) There is no evidence to support the suggestion that Goldstrike’s 
“nerve center” was in Nevada prior to 2014. Indeed, the evidence establishes that Goldstrike’s 
“nerve center” was in Salt Lake in 2009, and remained in Salt Lake until January 2014. 
3 See also Stellar Health Sys., Inc. v. Advanced Home Health, Inc., 2:10–CV–2009 JCM (PAL), 
2011 WL 868407, at *2 (D. Nev. Mar. 10, 2011) (“[A] corporation is not deemed a citizen of each 
and every state in which it conducts business or is otherwise susceptible to personal jurisdiction.”) 
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A. This Court cannot ignore the location and identity of Goldstrike’s actual officers. 

Bullion attempts to overcome the dispositive facts by arguing that John Mansanti 

(“Mansanti”) and Tony Astorga (“Astorga”) were “de facto” officers of Goldstrike in 2009. (Opp. 

at 3-7.). Bullion cites no authority allowing this Court to overlook the actual officers of the 

company.4 The law cited by Bullion relates to principals of agency, holding that a corporation is 

bound by the acts of its agents vis-à-vis third parties. (Opp. at 4.) These principles have no 

application here. Cf. Finley v. Farmers Ins. Co. Inc., Nos. CIV-11-0513-HE, et al., 2011 WL 

3439371, at *2 (W.D. Okla. 2011) (“In Hertz the Supreme Court expressly rejected the argument 

Plaintiffs advanced here—that the jurisdictional determination is based on the public’s view of the 

company’s principal place of business.”). A corporation does not have its “nerve center” in Nevada 

where there are no “high-level officers directing the corporation from Nevada.” Corral v. Homeeq 

Serv. Corp., No. 2:10–cv–00465–GMN–RJJ, 2010 WL 3927660, at *4 (D. Nev. Oct. 6, 2010). 

B.  Mansanti and Astorga were not “de facto” officers of Goldstrike. 

Even if the law allowed this Court to ignore the location of Goldstrike’s actual officers, the 

evidence does not support Bullion’s claims that Mansanti and Astorga were “de facto” officers.  

 i.  Mansanti was the General Manager at the mine site, not an officer of Goldstrike. 

In 2009, Mansanti was the General Manager at the Goldstrike mine site. (Deposition of John 

Mansanti (“Mansanti Dep”) at 6:2-4, 1 Reply Appx.5 002.) He oversaw the daily operations of the 

                                                 
4 Contrary to Bullion’s claim, Soto v. New Braunfels Reg. Rehab. Hosp., Inc. did not find that the 
designated officers did not actually act as officers, or find lower level employees to be the “de 
facto” officers of the company. (Opp. at 4.) It found that the hospital officers located at the hospital, 
rather than the officers located in the headquarters of its parent company were the officers actively 
controlling, directing, and coordinating the activities of the hospital. Soto, 2016 WL 8856916 at *7. 
As in Soto, the Goldstrike officers located in Salt Lake, rather than the officers located in the 
headquarters of its parent, BGC, were the officers actively controlling, directing, and coordinating 
the activities of Goldstrike. Likewise, Collins v. Virela Tech Servs., Inc., No. C 12–613 CW, 2012 
WL 4466551, at *6-8 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 26, 2012), does not allow a court to overlook the designated 
officers of a company. Rather, it requires the court to weigh the acts of all the geographically 
dispersed officers to determine where the center of control, direction and coordination actually is. 
Here, while Goldstrike had officers located in both Salt Lake and Toronto, the center of control, 
direction and coordination was Salt Lake. 
5 “Reply Appx.” refers to the appendix of exhibits Goldstrike submits with this reply. Goldstrike 
refers to the appendix of exhibits Bullion submitted with its opposition as “Bullion Opp. Appx.” 

Case 3:09-cv-00612-MMD-WGC   Document 297   Filed 05/25/18   Page 4 of 14

PA 1104



 

 - 5 -  

 
4822-1410-2630v6 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
PARSONS 
 BEHLE & 
LATIMER 

mine under the direction of Feehan in Salt Lake. (Mansanti Dep. at 14:21-15:1, 1 Reply Appx. 004-

005; see also Supp. Decl. of Rich Haddock in Support of Renewed Motion [Doc. 281-1] (“Haddock 

Decl.”) at ¶ 15; BAR-J0002161, 1 Reply Appx. 22.) Mansanti had “weekly telephone calls” or 

meetings with Feehan in which he would “report progress relative to the prior week” and update 

him on issues such as “safety performance, environmental performance, production”. (Mansanti 

Dep. at 15:24-18:3, 1 Reply Appx. 005-008.) Mansanti’s direct reports were “approved by 

Goldstrike’s management in Salt Lake City.” (Haddock Decl. at ¶ 15.) The budget drafted by 

Mansanti and his team was presented to Salt Lake for approval and it “was a guarantee” they would 

have to “go back and rework the budget based on [Salt Lake’s] questions or input.” (Mansanti Dep. 

at 22:9-25:22, 1 Reply Appx. 009-012.) Salt Lake had direct involvement in, among other things, 

setting unit cost targets and developing life-of-mine plans. (Id. at 60:2-24, 1 Reply Appx. 019; 

Haddock Decl. at ¶¶ 11(a) & (e).). Mansanti and his team had to report budget variances to Salt 

Lake monthly. (Mansanti Dep. at 27:9-25,1 Reply Appx. 013.) 

Salaries at the mine site were “coordinated through Salt Lake, especially senior hires.” 

(Mansanti Dep. at 29:8-16, 1 Reply Appx. 014.) So too were annual wage adjustments, bonuses, 

and employee benefits such as health insurance and pensions. (Id. at 29:8-16 & 30:20-23, 1 Reply 

Appx. 014-015.) Mansanti could approve contracts, but only up to his authority level that was “set 

in Salt Lake.” (Id. at 62:4-8, 1 Reply Appx. 020; see also Merriam Dep. at 55:18-56:2, 1 Reply 

Appx. 027-028.) Mansanti was the “highest ranking” employee in terms of on-site operations, but 

Salt Lake “was responsible for [ ] overseeing Goldstrike” and Lang, its President, was the highest 

ranking executive. (Mansanti Dep. at 62:9-15, 1 Reply Appx. 020.) When asked “the total 

percentage of [his] job that was impacted by Salt Lake”, Mansanti responded “all of it.” (Id. 70:11-

14, 1 Reply Appx. 021.). 

 ii.  Astorga was a contracts supervisor, not an officer of Goldstrike. 

Astorga was a “contract supervisor” and part of an administrative supply-chain team that 

“reported underneath the direction” of Gordon Merriam (“Merriam”), “the supply chain manager  

[ ] in Salt Lake City.” (Astorga Dep. at 13:22-14:3 & 16:8-17, 1 Reply Appx. 032-033, 035.) 
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Astorga’s job was to support contracting policies, facilitate the contract process, and support mine 

site project managers. (Id. at 25:4-10, 1 Reply Appx. 036.) He had no authority to “sign or approve 

contracts on behalf of [Goldstrike]” and used forms originating in Salt Lake that he could not 

deviate from.  (Id. at 118:3-119:9, 1 Reply Appx. 039-040.). Any variations to the contracting 

process were made in consultation with Salt Lake. (Id. at 123:16-124:3, 1 Reply Appx. 042-043.) 

Astorga and all other administrative personnel at the Shared Business Center6 reported to Salt Lake; 

all “executive direction” came from that office. (Id. at 14:25-15:23 & 29:17-18, 1 Reply Appx. 033-

034, 037.) Astorga communicated with management in Salt Lake “several times throughout the 

day”. (Id. at 33:2-24, 1 Reply Appx. 038.).7 

B. The officers and executives in Salt Lake were not mere figureheads. 

The testimony of Mansanti and Astorga, cited above, refutes Bullion’s claim that the 

officers and executives in Salt Lake were mere figureheads. So too does the sworn declaration of 

Rich Haddock (“Haddock”) and the deposition testimony of every witness deposed during 

jurisdictional discovery. (Haddock Decl. at ¶¶ 5, 8, 10, 11, 13-16; Deposition of Blake Measom 

(“Measom Dep.”) at 16:5-12, 17:13-23 & 45:8-46:3,8 1 Reply Appx. 070-071, 077-078; Bolland 

                                                 
6 The Shared Business Center provided administrative services to Goldstrike and the other Barrick 
entities in the North America region in the areas of finance/accounting, contracting, human 
resources, and IT. (Astorga Dep. at 14:25-15:23, 1 Reply Appx. 033-034.) Each of these 
administrative functions were directed, controlled and coordinated by the executives in Salt Lake. 
(Id.) 
7 Bullion suggests there is no evidence of Astorga’s email communications with Salt Lake regarding 
contract matters. (Opp. at 7-8.) In fact, there is. (See, .e.g., BAR-J0025016; BAR-J0025019; BAR-
J0025263; BAR-J0038014; BAR-J0025861; BAR-J0028066; BAR-J0028761; BAR-J0021837; 
BAR-J0005771; BAR-J0034079, 1 Reply Appx. 44-65.) 
8 As Goldstrike’s CFO, Measom communicated with the employees at Goldstrike in Nevada “at a 
minimum of monthly” but “probably three to four times per month, actually, and weekly in a lot of 
cases”. He “visited the site occasionally” to “make sure [he] understood what was going on in the 
operations, to visit the people there . . . to talk to the people who were actually doing the work there 
and – and make sure that in [his] role when [he] was asked to make or help support decisions 
relative to the operations at Goldstrike, that [he] had information to do that”. Salt Lake was 
“directly” involved in setting the budget for Goldstrike, “setting the targets” and working through 
“iterations of that until we got the – the budget that we felt was our best foot forward in terms of 
what we want to accomplish”. 
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Dep. at 15:18-17:8, 58:12-21 & 59:17-21,9 1 Reply Appx. 087-091; Merriam Dep. at 36:13-20, 

54:9-21 & 58:22-59:14,10 1 Reply Appx. 024, 026, 029-030.) Every witness identified Salt Lake as 

the corporate headquarters of Goldstrike in 2009. (Measom Dep. at 44:8-11, 1 Reply Appx. 076; 

Merriam Dep. at 51: 12-15, 1 Reply Appx. 025; Haddock Dep. at 24:20-25:2, 1 Reply Appx. 082-

083; Bolland Dep. at 59:7-10, 1 Appx. 091; Astorga Dep. at 15:6-12, 1 Reply Appx. 034; Haddock 

Decl. at ¶ 6.)11 It does not matter that there are minimal emails evidencing communications between 

those in Salt Lake and those in Nevada. (Opp. at 12). Goldstrike explained that such emails could 

not be produced because they had been automatically deleted under Goldstrike’s email destruction 

policy, applied before the jurisdictional issues arose.12 Each witness testified to consistent 

communication between Salt Lake and Nevada, not only by email but in-person and via telephone.13 

                                                 
9 As Director of Technical Services, Bolland had “oversight and responsibility over the Barrick 
Goldstrike Mines entity; he visited the mine site “at least once a quarter” to “bring a subject matter 
expert in to support the operation and look at various initiatives to improve the operation”. He was 
in frequent communication with Mansanti and the technical leads in the mining and processing 
areas, communicating either “by phone or email at least four times a month”. Goldstrike employees 
in Nevada interacted with the executives in Salt Lake “almost daily”. 
10 As Manager of Contracts and Procurement, Merriam had all of the “oversight and authority” with 
respect to “contracting and procurement functions relating to [Goldstrike]”.  He had “responsibility 
for developing or making adjustments to” the contracting processes for Goldstrike, and would have 
been directly involved in approving any “changes to be made to those processes”. He spent about 
25 percent of his time at the mine sites in the region, including Goldstrike. Regarding supply chain 
functions, “the buck stopped [with him] in Salt Lake”. 
11 Bullion suggests that Goldstrike seeks to “manipulate the jurisdictional analysis” (Opp. at 10), 
but there is no evidence for this claim. Three of its 30(b)(6) witnesses—Measom, Bolland, and 
Merriam no longer work for any Barrick entity but corroborate the testimony of the other witnesses 
that Salt Lake was Goldstrike’s corporate headquarters. 
12 See Resp. to Jurisdictional Document Request No. 4, 2 Bullion Opp. Appx. 333. Because the 
emails were deleted before the jurisdictional issues arose and there is no evidence that Goldstrike 
acted to intentionally destroy evidence, no adverse inference should be imposed. See Leon v. IDX 
Sys. Corp., 464 F.3d 951, 959 (9th Cir. 2006) (“The loss or destruction of evidence qualifies as 
willful spoliation if the party has some notice that the documents were potentially relevant to the 
litigation before they were lost.” (internal quotations and citations omitted)(). 
13 Other documents also demonstrate Salt Lake’s control, direction and coordination of Goldstrike’s 
activities. For a representative example, see 2 Reply Appx. 94-304 (BAR-J0002151; BAR-
J0002167; BAR-J0003153; BAR-J0014605; BAR-J0014637; BAR-J0014673; BAR-J0014815; 
BAR-J0014818; BAR-J0014623; BAR-J0017392; BAR-J0040690; BAR-J0002243). 
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D.  The activities Bullion seeks to rely on were operational and administrative and do not 
evidence control, direction, or coordination of Goldstrike’s activities from Nevada. 

Bullion contends that “[t]he vast majority of requests for proposal came from Nevada.” (Op. 

at 8.) But the process for how those requests were submitted, processed, approved and handled was  

established and overseen by Merriam, in Salt Lake. (Merriam Dep. at 36:13-20 & 54:9-21, 1 Reply 

Appx. 024, 026.) The key is that approval occurred in Salt Lake. 

Bullion claims that “[s]trategic decisions about how to run the mine were made at the mine 

site, not in a regional office in Salt Lake.” (Opp. at 8.) But the mine had operational discretion only 

within the parameters of the budget approved by Salt Lake. (Mansanti Dep. at 12:5-14 & 56:20-

57:16, 1 Reply Appx. 003, 017; see also Haddock Decl. at ¶¶ 8, 13.) “Management in Salt Lake 

City set production and processing projections and targets for Goldstrike’s mine,” “technical 

decisions regarding Goldstrike’s mine plans and production, processing, geology, and maintenance 

were reviewed and revised by management in Salt Lake City,” and Feehan “coordinated mine 

operation issues from that office.” (Haddock Decl. at ¶ 11(a), (d), and (e).)  

Bullion argues that “[e]quipment inventories, maintenance, and security functions were 

directed and coordinated from Nevada.” (Opp. at 8.) However, Bill Ferdinand in Salt Lake was the 

Director of Environmental, Health and Safety in 2009 with ultimate responsibility and authority 

over safety. (See Mansanti Dep. at 38:3-10, 1 Reply Appx. 016; see also Answer to Jurisdictional 

Interrogatory No. 2, 1 Bullion Opp. Appx. 000023-28.)14 Management in Salt Lake also “performed 

evaluations of equipment inventories and made decisions regarding the allocation of equipment” 

and “established and communicated security policies and objectives.” (Haddock Decl. at ¶¶ 11(j) 

& (m).)  

Bullion claims Nevada state tax and environmental authorities “dealt with Elko, not Salt 

Lake.” (Opp. at 8.) This claim rests on routine filings and communications made by administrative 

                                                 
14 As noted, Mansanti was required to report to Feehan on operational issues, including safety, on 
a weekly basis. (Mansanti Dep. at 17:16-18:3, 1 Reply Appx. 007-008.) 
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and operational personnel.15 Tax policy was directed by Paul Judd, Goldstrike’s Tax Director in 

Salt Lake, and “Goldstrike’s management in Salt Lake City decided environmental policies, 

including environmental targets and goals for Goldstrike’s environmental management system.” 

(See Haddock Decl. at ¶¶ 11(c) & (l)). Goldstrike’s listing the physical address of the mine, rather 

than its Salt Lake headquarters on certain correspondence and filings, is of no consequence. See 

Hertz, 559 U.S. at 97 (“[W]e reject . .. that the mere filing of a form like the [SEC’s] Form 10K 

listing a corporation’s ‘principal executive offices’ would, without more, be sufficient proof to 

establish a corporation’s ‘nerve center.’”). In sum, the evidence establishes that the officers and 

executives in Salt Lake controlled, directed, and coordinated Goldstrike’s activities. 

II. It is irrelevant that the officers and corporate executives controlling, directing and 
coordinating the activities of Goldstrike from Salt Lake were employed by BGNA. 

Bullion argues that BGNA’s “nerve center” cannot serve as Goldstrike’s “nerve center.” 

(Opp. at 10-11). Bullion relies on Johnson v. SmithKline Beecham Corp., 724 F.3d 337 (3rd Cir. 

2013), which is neither controlling nor persuasive. Johnson addressed whether the acts of a 

subsidiary LLC could be relied upon in determining the corporate “nerve center” of its member. 

724 F.3d at 347. The Third Circuit held that the acts of the LLC could not be relied upon because 

the citizenship of an LLC must be determined based on the citizenship of each of its members, and 

it would turn the analysis on its head to determine the citizenship of the member by the acts of the 

LLC. Id. at 349-351. Here, there is no LLC; Goldstrike and BGNA are both corporations.  

BGNA’s purpose was to provide executive level management to Goldstrike and other 

Barrick entities in the North America region. (Haddock Decl. at ¶ 5.)16 It had no independent 

                                                 
15 See 1 Bullion Opp. Appx. 73-85 (correspondence with U.S. Dept. of Interior regarding Betze pit 
expansion project); 2 Bullion Opp. Appx. 267-269 (Net Proceeds of Mineral Tax Statement of 
Gross Yield and Claimed Net Proceeds return); 2 Bullion Opp. Appx. 270-71 (letter to Nevada 
Division of Environmental Protection regarding Stack Test Protocols at mine site). 
16 See also Measom Dep. at 10:22-11:14 & 11:24-12:11, 1 Reply Appx. 067-069 (“BGNA was a 
management company . . . given direction to manage the North America business unit which 
comprised all of the mine sites, closure properties and other legal entities that were within that 
North America region” and with “the responsibility for management of all of those properties under 
that umbrella”; Salt Lake was in charge of “virtually everything.”). 
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operations, ran no mines, generated no revenue, and its costs were allocated to Goldstrike and the 

other entities it oversaw. (Measom Dep. at 11:18-21, 43:6-44:3 & 46:13-24, 1 Reply Appx. 068, 

075-076, 078.) The officers and executives at BGNA had the authority to act as officers and 

executives of Goldstrike in controlling, directing and coordinating its business. (Bolland Dep. at 

61:8-18, 1 Reply Appx. 093.) Bullion cites no authority requiring the acts of a corporate 

management entity to be disregarded, and “nothing prevents [one company] from maintaining the 

same principal place of business as [its affiliate] if that location is truly the subsidiary’s nerve 

center.” Pegasus Indus., Inc. v. Martinrea Heavy Stampings, Inc., 3:16-cv-00024-GFVT, 2016 WL 

3043143, at * 3 (E.D. Ken. May 27, 2016). The fact that Goldstrike’s officers “were not dedicated 

to Goldstrike” and had a “series of overlapping executive roles” is also no consequence.17 (Opp. at 

9.) The law does not preclude the officers, directors and executives of one entity from serving as 

the officers, directors and executives of an affiliated entity.18 

Finally, Bullion urges this Court to disregard the make-up of Goldstrike’s Board because it 

did not meet in 2009. Goldstrike’s bylaws, however, specifically authorized the Board to act by 

                                                 
17 Bullion claims that “Goldstrike’s 30(b)(6) designees fumbled the question about Goldstrike’s 
relationship to [BGC], and where BGNA fit within Barrick’s corporate structure.” (Opp. at 14.) 
This assertion is unfounded and immaterial. Bullion’s 30(b)(6) notice did not seek a designee on 
the ownership of Goldstrike or BGNA, or their place in Barrick’s overall corporate structure. (See 
Bullion’s Notice of Video Taped Deposition of Barrick Goldstrike Mines, Inc., 2 Reply Appx. 305-
308.) Like many large organizations, Barrick’s organizational chart is quite complex. Goldstrike’s 
30(b)(6) witnesses, three of whom have not been employed with Barrick for years, cannot be 
reasonably expected to recall such details. Haddock, the only 30(b)(6) designee still employed by 
a Barrick company, in fact testified that Goldstrike was owned by Barrick Gold Exploration, Inc. 
as part of the ABX Financeco family of companies, and that BGNA was owned by another Barrick 
entity and became part of the organization through the Mercur Mine acquisition. (Haddock Dep. at 
11:13-12:24, 1 Reply Appx. 080-081.) Haddock specifically testified that he would need to refer to 
the organizational chart (which had already been produced to Bullion) to provide further detail. 
(Id.) Bullion chose not to provide that chart or offer it as an exhibit to the deposition. 
18 See Central West Virginia Co., 636 F.3d at 107 (“[T]he fact that [the officers of one company] 
may also be engaged in affiliated companies’ businesses is also of no import. Moreover, we refuse 
any invitation to examine, for example, how much time [the company’s] officers devote to directing 
[the company] versus affiliate companies’ businesses. Doing so would subvert the Supreme Court’s 
guiding principle in Hertz—establishing a simple jurisdictional rule to avoid resource-intensive 
litigation.”). 
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resolution. (2 Bullion Opp. Appx. 000297-306) There is likewise no merit to Bullion’s claim that 

the resolutions were of no consequence. (Opp. at 2, 9-10.) One resolution appointed the company’s 

officers. (BAR-J0002223-24, 2 Bullion Opp. Appx. 291-292.) Another authorized Goldstrike to 

open bank accounts and designated the signers. (BAR-J0002225-26, 2 Bullion Opp. Appx. 293-

294.) A third established Goldstrike’s fiscal year. (BAR-J0002227-28, 2 Bullion Opp. Appx. 295-

296.) Each resolution constituted activities of control, direction and coordination from Salt Lake in 

2009.19 

III. Toronto was not the “nerve center” of Goldstrike in 2009. 

Faced with irrefutable evidence that Goldstrike’s “nerve center” was not in Nevada, Bullion 

attempts to bypass Salt Lake, asserting Toronto as the headquarters of Goldstrike. Bullion offers 

no competent evidence to support this claim. Bullion cites a May 2009 resolution whereby 

Goldstrike’s sole shareholder appointed Goldstrike’s Board, arguing that it was signed by Faith 

Teo, Goldstrike’s Assistant Secretary in Toronto.20 (BAR-J0002222, 1 Bullion Opp. Appx. 47.) 

But the fact is she signed in her capacity as an officer of the shareholder, not as an officer of 

Goldstrike. (Id.)21 Bullion notes further that BGC set global goals and targets for the enterprise, 

promulgated global supply chain and procurement policies to maximize efficiencies and cost 

savings, and received reports from Goldstrike relating to its budget. (Opp. at 3, 13-14). These 

                                                 
19 Bullion complains that the resolutions do not indicate “where—if anywhere—those resolutions 
took place.” (Opp. at 9.) The only reasonable inference is that the resolutions were signed by the 
directors in their usual place of residence, and that the majority of the votes needed to pass the 
resolution were therefore cast in Salt Lake. 
20 There were five officers located in Toronto, and five in Salt Lake. But the officers in Salt Lake 
were the senior executive officers who were actively involved in controlling, directing, and 
coordinating Goldstrike’s operations. See supra Argument, Section I. Bullion comes forward with 
no evidence establishing that the officers in Toronto were so engaged. See Soto, 2016 WL 8856916 
at *7 (fact that some of the hospital’s officers were employed by parent company was irrelevant 
because “they were not the hospital’s officers who actually directed and controlled New Braunfels 
Regional during the relevant period of time”). 
21 Bullion cites language in the resolution ratifying the acts of the officers and directors as evidence 
that Teo controlled, directed and coordinated the activities of Goldstrike from Canada. (Opp. at 9, 
13.) Ratification of an act is not the same as taking an act. The ratified acts were undertaken by the 
directors and officers of Goldstrike, largely from Salt Lake. 
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commonly exercised acts of a global parent managing its global portfolio do not render the parent 

the “nerve center” of its subsidiaries, especially where the executives in Salt Lake controlled, 

directed and coordinated how those policies were applied and implemented at Goldstrike. (Astorga 

Dep. at 119:10-120:4, 1 Reply Appx. 040-041.)  

The “nerve center” of a subsidiary must be assessed separately, based on the location of its 

own officers and directors, and analyzing where those officers and directors exerted overall 

direction, control and coordination of the subsidiary’s activities. Hoschar v. Appalachian Pwr. Co., 

739 F.3d 163, 173 n. 4 (2014). The fact that an ultimate parent may exert some control, even “high 

level control” over its wholly owned subsidiary, does not render the headquarters of the corporate 

parent the “nerve center” for purposes of diversity jurisdiction. Salzano-Pascuzzi v. Lucas Insertco 

Pharm. Printing Co. of P.R., 135 F. Supp. 2d 277, 280-81 (D. Puerto Rico 2001) (applying First 

Circuit “nerve center” test pre-Hertz); see also Danjaq, S.A. v. Pathe Commc'ns Corp., 979 F.2d 

772, 775 (9th Cir. 1992); Johnson, 724 F.3d at 351. The evidence establishes that Toronto’s role 

with respect to Goldstrike was that of a parent monitoring its investment. (Measom Dep. at 22:13-

23:19 & 23:20-24:6, 1 Reply Appx. 072-074.) Goldstrike’s parent did not itself direct, control or 

coordinate Goldstrike’s activities; it delegated such duties to the officers and executives in Salt 

Lake. (See Measom Dep. at 22:13-15, 1 Reply Appx. 072; Bolland Dep. at 13:20-14:5 & 60:10-19, 

1 Reply Appx. 085-086, 092.; see also supra notes 4, 8-10, 16, 20.) 

IV. Goldstrike’s lack of registration with the Utah Secretary of State is of no consequence. 

That Goldstrike did not register to do business in Utah is of no consequences. See Thunder 

Properties, Inc. v. Wood, 3:14–cv–00068–RCJ–WGC, 2017 WL 777183, at *2 (D. Nev. Feb. 28, 

2017) (fact that company did not register or pay franchise taxes in California not dispositive in 

“nerve center” analysis). Acts taken to control, direct, and coordinate Goldstrike’s activities from 

Salt Lake were valid without registration. See Utah Code. Ann. § 16-10a-1502(5).22 

                                                 
22 Bullion cites In re West Coast Interventional Pain Med., Inc., 435 B.R. 569 (N.D. Ind. 2010), for 
the proposition that “[a] corporation’s failure to apply for authorization to do business in a state is 
at least some evidence that the corporation has not established its nerve center in that state.” (Opp. 
at 15). West Coast Interventional applied a California statute governing suspended corporations, 
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V. Principles of “justice” and “equity” have no place in the jurisdictional analysis. 

Bullion claims that the only “just” result is denial of the Renewed Motion. (Opp. at 16). But 

principles of “justice” and “equity” have no place in the analysis.23 See, e.g. Herman Family 

Revocable Tr.t v. Teddy Bear, 254 F.3d 802, 807 (9th Cir. 2001)) (“[Q]uestions of time, cost, and 

efficiency do not undergird jurisdiction. Nor is jurisdiction a question of equity”). “[A] court 

lacking jurisdiction to hear a case may not reach the merits even if acting ‘in the interest of justice.” 

id. (internal quotations omitted). 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above and in the Renewed Motion, Bullion has not met its burden 

of persuasion in establishing Goldstrike as a citizen of Nevada (or Toronto) rather than a citizen of 

Utah in 2009. Indeed, the competent evidence establishes that Goldstrike’s “nerve center” was in 

Salt Lake during this time. Because Bullion and Goldstrike were both citizens of Utah when this 

case was filed, there is no diversity jurisdiction and this Court should dismiss the case. 
 
 

Dated: May 25, 2018. 
 
PARSONS BEHLE & LATIMER 
  
/s/ Michael P. Petrogeorge   
Francis Wikstrom, Esq. 
Michael Kealy, Esq. 
Michael P. Petrogeorge, Esq. 
Brandon J. Mark, Esq. 
Attorneys for Defendant 
Barrick Goldstrike Mines Inc.  

                                                 
finding that “suspension under California law appears to significantly impair an entity’s ability to 
conduct business.” 435 B.R. at 576. Utah law does not similarly impair the ability of an unregistered 
company to conduct business in the state. 
23 It is irrelevant that Goldstrike did not file its Renewed Motion until “seven years after the Hertz 
decision.” (Opp. at 16.) The parties and the court have an independent and ongoing obligation to 
determine whether subject matter jurisdiction exists. Mashiri v. Dept. of Educ., 724 F.3d 1028, 
1031 (9th Cir. 2013). “The objection that a federal court lacks subject-matter jurisdiction . . . may 
be raised by a party, or by a court on its own initiative, at any stage of the litigation, even after trial 
and the entry of judgment.” Arbaugh v. Y&H Corp., 546 U.S. 500, 504 (2006). 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 25th day of May 2018, a true and correct copy of the foregoing 

REPLY IN SUPPORT OF BARRICK GOLDSTRIKE MINES INC.’S RENEWED 

MOTION TO DISMISS FOR LACK OF SUBJECT-MATTER JURISDICTION, was served 

on the following electronically via the ECF system: 

Daniel F. Polsenberg 
Joel D. Henriod 
Lewis & Roca LLC 
3993 Howard Hughes Parkway 
Suite 600 
Las Vegas, NV 89169 
dpolsenberg@llrlaw.com  
jhenriod@llrlaw.com  
 
Thomas L. Belaustegui 
Kent R. Robinson 
Clayton P. Brust 
Robinson, Sharp, Sullivan & Brust 
71 Washington Street 
Reno, Nevada 89503 
cbrust@rssblaw.com  

 
 
/s/ Michaefl P. Petrogeorge   
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

 
DISTRICT OF NEVADA 

 
* * * 

 
BULLION MONARCH MINING, INC., 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

 v. 
 
BARRICK GOLDSTRIKE MINES, INC., 
 

Defendant. 
 

Case No. 3:09-cv-00612-MMD-WGC 
 
 

ORDER 

 
 

I. SUMMARY 

Plaintiff Bullion Monarch Mining, Inc. sued Defendant Barrick Goldstrike Mines, 

Inc. in an attempt to recover royalties on the proceeds of a gold mine. (ECF No. 2.) 

Some eight years later, Defendant has moved to dismiss for lack of subject matter 

jurisdiction (the “Motion”), specifically arguing the parties were not diverse at the time 

this case was split from a related case.1 (ECF No. 281.) Because the Court agrees with 

Defendant that its nerve center was located in Salt Lake City, Utah, in June 2009, the 

Court will grant Defendant’s Motion. The Court will also grant Plaintiff’s related motions 

to seal.2 (ECF Nos. 283, 284, 292.)  

                                            
1The Court also reviewed Plaintiff’s response (ECF No. 285), and Defendant’s 

reply (ECF No. 297), along with the corresponding appendices and exhibits. 
  
2While there is a “strong presumption” in favor of access, and a party seeking to 

seal judicial materials must identify “compelling reasons” that outweigh the “public 
interest in understanding the public process,” Kamakana v. City & Cty. of Honolulu, 447 
F.3d 1172, 1178–1180 (9th Cir. 2006), there may be compelling reasons to seal 
“business information that might harm a litigant’s competitive standing.” Nixon v. Warner 
Commc’ns, Inc., 435 U.S. 589, 598 (1978). Here, compelling reasons exist. Specifically, 
Plaintiff has moved to selectively seal references to, and exhibits describing, Defendant’s 
confidential business information. (ECF Nos. 283, 284, 292.) This information may harm 
Defendant’s competitive standing if revealed. Thus, Plaintiff’s motions are granted. 
Plaintiff will file redacted versions of the applicable documents within fifteen days.   
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II. BACKGROUND 

The Court refers to its prior order in which it described the facts of this case. (ECF 

No. 224 at 2-5.) It will not restate those facts here because they are largely irrelevant to 

Defendant’s Motion. As relevant here, Defendant represents that it moved to dismiss for 

lack of jurisdiction after Defendant became aware of the potential jurisdictional defect in 

this case, while preparing a proposed joint pretrial order that called for a jurisdictional 

statement. (ECF No. 281 at 3.) On Plaintiff’s motion, Judge Cobb ordered jurisdictional 

discovery and denied Defendant’s motion to dismiss without prejudice. (ECF Nos. 263, 

267.) Upon the completion of jurisdictional discovery, and in line with a briefing schedule 

set by Judge Cobb, Defendant filed its a renewed motion to dismiss for lack of 

jurisdiction. (ECF No. 281.) 

Plaintiff and Defendant agree on many of the threshold questions applicable here. 

Plaintiff initially filed suit against a third party, and added Defendant as a party to that 

suit in the spring of 2009. (ECF No. 281 at 4.) Per the parties’ agreement, the case 

between Plaintiff and Defendant was severed from the original case in October 2009, 

and has been proceeding as a separate case ever since. (Id.) Plaintiff alleged, and 

continues to allege, this Court has diversity jurisdiction over the parties. (Id.) The parties 

agree that the relevant point in time for the jurisdictional inquiry is June 2009, when 

Plaintiff filed its amended complaint in the original case adding Defendant as a party. 

(ECF Nos. 281 at 11-12, 285 at 6 n.1.) 

The question before the Court is whether Defendant’s principal place of business 

was in Nevada (or Toronto) or Utah in June 2009. The parties agree that Plaintiff is a 

citizen of Utah, which is both its state of incorporation and the location of its principal 

place of business. (ECF No. 281 at 4, 5; see also ECF No. 2 at 1.) The parties also 

agree that Defendant is a Colorado corporation. (ECF No. 281 at 4; see also ECF No. 2 

at 2.) The amount in controversy requirement is satisfied and not in dispute. But the 

parties disagree as to Defendant’s principal place of business in June 2009. If, as 

Defendant argues, its principal place of business at the time was in Utah, the parties are 

Case 3:09-cv-00612-MMD-WGC   Document 302   Filed 11/01/18   Page 2 of 9

PA 1117



 

 

3 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

not diverse, and this Court has no jurisdiction over this case. (ECF No. 281 at 3-4.) But 

if, as Plaintiff argues, Defendant’s principal place of business in June 2009 was in either 

Nevada or Toronto, Canada, the parties are diverse, and this Court may continue to 

exercise diversity jurisdiction over this case. (ECF No. 285 at 1-2.) 

III. LEGAL STANDARD 

Rule 12(b)(1) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure allows defendants to seek 

dismissal of a claim or action for a lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Although the 

defendant is the moving party in a motion to dismiss brought under Rule 12(b)(1), the 

plaintiff is the party invoking the court’s jurisdiction. As a result, the plaintiff bears the 

burden of proving that the case is properly in federal court. See McCauley v. Ford Motor 

Co., 264 F.3d 952, 957 (9th Cir. 2001) (citing McNutt v. General Motors Acceptance 

Corp., 298 U.S. 178, 189 (1936)). Plaintiff’s burden is subject to a preponderance of the 

evidence standard. See Leite v. Crane Co., 749 F.3d 1117, 1121 (9th Cir. 2014).  

Federal courts are courts of limited jurisdiction. See Owen Equip. & Erection Co. 

v. Kroger, 437 U.S. 365, 374 (1978). A federal court is presumed to lack jurisdiction in a 

particular case unless the contrary affirmatively appears. See Stock West, Inc. v. 

Confederated Tribes of the Colville Reservation, 873 F.2d 1221, 1225 (9th Cir. 1989) 

(citation omitted). “Because subject matter jurisdiction goes to the power of the court to 

hear a case, it is a threshold issue and may be raised at any time and by any party.” 

Mallard Auto. Grp., Ltd. v. United States, 343 F. Supp. 2d 949, 952 (D. Nev. 2004) (citing 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1)).   

Here, Defendant brings a factual attack on the Court’s alleged diversity 

jurisdiction. In a factual attack, the challenger disputes the truth of the allegations that, 

by themselves, would otherwise invoke federal jurisdiction. See Safe Air for Everyone v. 

Myer, 373 F.3d 1035, 1039 (9th Cir. 2004). Once a moving party has converted a motion 

to dismiss into a factual motion by presenting affidavits or other evidence properly 

brought before the court, the party opposing the motion must furnish affidavits or other 

evidence necessary to satisfy its burden of establishing subject matter jurisdiction. See 
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Savage v. Glendale Union High School, 343 F.3d 1036, 1039 n. 2 (citing St. Clair v. City 

of Chico, 880 F.2d 199, 201 (9th Cir. 1989)); see also Trentacosta v Front. Pac. Aircraft 

Indus., 813 F.2d 1553, 1559 (9th Cir. 1987) (stating that on a factually attacked 12(b)(1) 

motion to dismiss, the nonmoving party’s burden is that of Rule 56(e)).   

IV. DISCUSSION 

For the reasons explained below, the Court finds that Plaintiff has not met its 

burden to establish the Court’s subject matter jurisdiction over this case. In contrast, the 

Court is persuaded by Defendant’s argument—supported by the evidence before the 

Court—that its principal place of business was Salt Lake City, Utah in June 2009. Thus, 

the Court must dismiss Plaintiff’s claims against Defendant without prejudice. 

The parties and the Court agree that Hertz Corp. v. Friend, 559 U.S. 77 (2010), 

governs the Court’s analysis here. In Hertz, the Supreme Court clarified that a 

corporation’s principal place of business, for diversity jurisdiction purposes, is its “nerve 

center.” Id. at 92-93. A corporation can have only one nerve center—it is a single place 

within a single state. Id. at 93. A corporation’s nerve center is “the place where a 

corporation’s officers direct, control, and coordinate the corporation’s activities.” Id. at 92-

93. “And in practice it should normally be the place where the corporation maintains its 

headquarters—provided that the headquarters is the actual center of direction, control, 

and coordination, i.e., the “nerve center,” and not simply an office where the corporation 

holds its board meetings (for example, attended by directors and officers who have 

traveled there for the occasion).” Id. at 93. The party asserting federal jurisdiction—here, 

Plaintiff—must present “competent proof” to substantiate its jurisdictional allegations. 

See id. at 96-97. 

Defendant argues that its nerve center was located in Salt Lake City, Utah in June 

2009. (ECF No. 281.) Plaintiff counters that Defendant’s nerve center was located either 

in Nevada or Toronto, Canada in June 2009. (ECF No. 285.) As mentioned, the Court 

agrees with Defendant. 
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Defendant proffered unrebutted evidence that the majority of its corporate officers 

and executives lived and worked out of offices leased by Defendant’s corporate parent in 

Salt Lake City in 2009. The Court finds this evidence persuasive in finding that 

Defendant’s nerve center was in Salt Lake City at the time. First, five out of ten of 

Defendant’s officers—including its President and CEO Greg Lang (“Lang”), Vice 

President Mike Feehan, and CFO Blake Meason—lived and worked out of Salt Lake City 

at the time. (ECF Nos. 281 at 13, 281-7 at 8-9, 297 at 2.) Second, four out of six of the 

members of Defendant’s board of directors lived and worked in Salt Lake City at the 

time. (ECF No. 281-7 at 6.) Third, eight out of ten of Lang’s direct reports lived and 

worked in Salt Lake City at the time. (Id. at 9-10.) Fourth, all of Defendant’s witnesses 

deposed during jurisdictional discovery—including some of Defendant’s corporate 

officers—offered unrebutted testimony that Defendant’s corporate headquarters were in 

Salt Lake City at the time.3 (ECF No. 297 at 7.) 

Plaintiff responds with the creative but ultimately unpersuasive argument that the 

Court should ignore the location of Defendant’s corporate officers and instead look at the 

location of Defendant’s de facto executives. (ECF No. 285 at 5-8.) Defendant’s main 

business is the operation of a gold mine outside of Elko, Nevada. Thus, Plaintiff argues 

the Court should primarily look at that mine’s general manager’s location and find that 

his location—in Nevada—was Defendant’s nerve center. (Id.) The mine’s general 

manger oversaw nine direct reports who were also based in Nevada, and was ultimately 

responsible for the 1600 employees and 400-500 independent contractors that worked in 

and around the mine. (ECF Nos. 285 at 2, 6-7, 281-7 at 10-12, 15.) The mine’s general 

manager also, understandably, ran the mine from Nevada—he made decisions about 

                                            
3Defendant did not properly authenticate the six deposition transcripts it attached 

as exhibits to its Motion. (ECF Nos. 281-1, 281-2, 281-3, 281-4, 281-5, 281-6.) 
Nonetheless, the Court will consider them because Plaintiff attached properly 
authenticated versions of the same transcripts to its response (ECF Nos. 289-7, 286-1, 
289-3, 286-8, 286-10, 286-9), both parties cite to them, and neither party contests the 
authenticity of the transcripts. See Orr v. Bank of Am., NT & SA, 285 F.3d 764, 776 (9th 
Cir. 2002).  
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how to operate the mine, issued Requests for Proposals to subcontractors, conducted 

equipment inventories, held meetings, hired and fired people, and served as a point of 

contact for state and local officials. (ECF No. 285 at 5-8.) 

But the mine’s general manager at the time testified at his deposition that he 

reported to executives in Salt Lake City. (ECF No. 297 at 4-5.) He had to give weekly 

reports to executives in Salt Lake City on the mine’s progress, they had to approve the 

budgets he presented, and they also had to approve higher-level hires the general 

manager wanted to make. (Id. at 5.) Executives in Salt Lake City also set human 

resources policies, and mine-related policies such as production targets and life-of-mine 

plans. (Id.) Thus, the mine’s general manger is better characterized as part of 

Defendant’s nervous system than as its sole nerve center.4  

Further, Plaintiff’s de facto executive argument conflicts with the Court’s reading 

of Hertz. The Hertz Court provided a hypothetical intended to clarify the application of 

the nerve center test this Court finds analogous to these facts. “For example, if the bulk 

of a company’s business activities visible to the public take place in New Jersey, while its 

top officers direct those activities just across the river in New York, the ‘principal place of 

business’ is New York.” Hertz, 559 U.S. at 96. Here, Utah is New York, while Nevada is 

New Jersey. While it does appear that the bulk of Defendant’s business activities were in 

Nevada, Defendant’s top officers were directing those activities just across the state 

border in Utah. Thus, Defendant’s nerve center was in Salt Lake City. See id.; see also 

Dawson v. Richmond Am. Homes of Nevada, Inc., Case No. 2:12-cv-01563-MMD, 2013 

WL 1405338, at *2 (D. Nev. Apr. 5, 2013) (finding that nerve center was located where 

                                            
4Plaintiff also argues that a contracts administrator named Tony Astorga was a de 

facto corporate officer relevant to this analysis, but the Court disagrees. (ECF No. 285 at 
6-8.) Instead, the Court agrees with Defendant that Mr. Astorga was part of an 
administrative supply chain team that reported into executives in Salt Lake City. (ECF No 
297 at 5-6.) Indeed, the entire shared services center where Mr. Astorga worked, 
consisting of various administrative personnel and located in Elko, Nevada, appears to 
have reported into Salt Lake City. (Id.) And while Mr. Astorga negotiated contracts on 
Defendant’s behalf, he used forms provided by Salt Lake City and was confined both in 
terms of his signing authority and his discretion in negotiating contract terms. (Id.). 
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the majority of Defendant’s corporate officers worked and set direction even though 

Defendant’s president managed day-to-day operations from a different state); Corral v. 

Homeeq Servicing Corp., Case No. 2:10-cv-00465, 2010 WL 3927660, at *3-4 (D. Nev. 

Oct. 6, 2010) (“Absent such high-level officers directing the corporation from Nevada, 

Defendant cannot be deemed to have its principal place of business here.”). 

The Court is also unpersuaded by several of Plaintiff’s subsidiary arguments that 

Defendant’s nerve center was located in Nevada in June 2009. Plaintiff argues that 

Defendant’s nerve center could not have been in Utah because it did not register to do 

business in Utah in 2009, or any other year. (ECF No. 285 at 2, 14-15.) But this lack of 

registration in Utah is not determinative here. See Thunder Properties, Inc. v. Wood, 

Case No. 3:14-cv-00068-RCJ-WGC, 2017 WL 777183, at *2 (D. Nev. Feb. 28, 2017); 

Pound for Pound Promotions, Inc. v. Golden Boy Promotions, Inc., Case No. 2:16-cv-

01872-GMN-PAL, 2017 WL 1157853, at *2 (D. Nev. Mar. 28, 2017). Plaintiff also argues 

that Defendant’s nerve center was in Nevada because Defendant listed its office and/or 

mine addresses on various tax documents, filings with Nevada state agencies, and 

contracts. (ECF No. 285 at 5.) But the stated location of a business on contracts and 

required filings does not dictate the location of that business’ nerve center. See Hertz, 

559 U.S. at 97.  

In addition, Plaintiff argues that the Court should not consider Defendant’s 

corporate officers in Salt Lake City because they were employed by Defendant’s 

corporate parent, and held similar executive roles with a number of other subsidiaries 

owned by Defendant’s ultimate corporate parent. (ECF No. 285.) But corporate officers 

can hold executive roles at multiple related subsidiaries without changing the result of 

this jurisdictional inquiry. See Cent. W. Virginia Energy Co. v. Mountain State Carbon, 

LLC, 636 F.3d 101, 106-7 (4th Cir. 2011). And given the evidence presented by 

Defendant tending to show that its Salt Lake City-based executives oversaw Defendant’s 

operations in Nevada, and the undisputed evidence that the Salt Lake City-based 

executives were formally listed as Defendant’s corporate officers, the Court declines to 
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exclude consideration of them in this jurisdictional analysis. (ECF Nos. 281 at 14-15, 

281-7 at 8-9, 281-8, 297 at 2, 4, 6-7.) 

Finally, Plaintiff argues in the alternative that Defendant’s nerve center was 

Toronto, Canada—the headquarters of Defendant’s ultimate corporate parent. (ECF No. 

285 at 12-14.) However, Defendant’s unrebutted evidence tends to show that executives 

in Salt Lake City—not Toronto—directed and controlled Defendant’s activities. (ECF 

Nos. 281-2 at 10-12, 281-3 at 4-5, 281-6 at 10-11.) Plaintiff also contends that a 2009 

shareholder’s resolution lists a Canadian address and was signed by a Canadian 

member of Defendant’s board of directors, which show that Defendant was controlled by 

a nerve center in Toronto. (ECF No. 285 at 9.) However, again, the address written on 

an official form is not necessarily relevant to this analysis. See Hertz, 559 U.S. at 97. 

Further, while it is true that some members of Defendant’s board were located in 

Toronto, the majority were located in Salt Lake City. (ECF No. 281-7 at 6.) Thus, given 

the evidence before the Court, Toronto was not Defendant’s nerve center in June 2009. 

In sum, the Court agrees with Defendant that its principal place of business in 

June 2009 was Salt Lake City, Utah, which renders it a citizen of Utah for purposes of 

diversity jurisdiction. Because Plaintiff was also a citizen of Utah at the time, the parties 

are not diverse. 

V. CONCLUSION 

The Court notes that the parties made several arguments and cited to several 

cases not discussed above. The Court has reviewed these arguments and cases and 

determines that they do not warrant discussion as they do not affect the outcome of 

Defendant’s Motion. 

It is therefore ordered that Defendant’s motion to dismiss (ECF No. 281) is 

granted.  Plaintiff’s claims are dismissed without prejudice.  

It is further ordered that Plaintiff’s motions to seal (ECF Nos. 283, 284, 292) are 

granted. Plaintiff will file redacted versions of the applicable documents, as Plaintiff 

stated in the motions to seal, within fifteen days from the date of the entry of this order. 
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The Clerk of the Court is directed to enter judgment in accordance with this order 

and close this case. 

  

DATED THIS 1st day of November 2018. 
 
 
 
              
       MIRANDA M. DU 
        UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
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